
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Date: Thursday, 18 June 2020
Time: 6.30pm,

Location: Virtual (via Zoom)
Contact: Lisa Jerome 01438 242203

Members: Councillors: S Speller (Chair), M McKay (Vice-Chair), D Bainbridge, 
S Barr, ME Gardner, J Hanafin, L Harrington, L Kelly, G Lawrence, 
J Lloyd, S-J McDonough, G Snell and T Wren

________________________________________________________________________

AGENDA

PART 1

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

2.  MINUTES - 26 MAY 2020

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 26 
May 2020

Pages 3 – 12

3.  19/00283/FP - BARNWELL SCHOOL

To consider an application for the extension and resurfacing of playing courts, 
erection of 4no. 8m high floodlights, installation of 4.5m high fencing and siting of 
storage container 

Pages 13 – 30

4.  20/00135/FPM - CAR PARK BOUNDED BY LYTTON WAY, DANESGATE AND 
LONDON ROAD, STEVENAGE

To consider an application for a new bus interchange including covered bus 
waiting area, ancillary accommodation building which consists of a café retail unit, 
shop mobility store, waiting area and toilet facilities, Lytton Way bus shelters and 
coach stands, associated vehicle hardstanding, public realm improvements, 
associated highway works and external stores on London Road.

Pages 31 – 66

Public Document Pack



5.  INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS

To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and 
Regulatory in accordance with his delegated authority.

Pages 67 – 82

6.  INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS

To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and 
Regulatory in accordance with his delegated authority.

Pages 83 – 84

7.  URGENT PART I BUSINESS

To consider any Part I Business accepted by the Chair as urgent.

8.  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider the following motions that:

1. Under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
described in paragraphs 1-7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act as 
amended by Local Government (Access to information) (Variation) Order 
2006.

2. That Members consider the reasons for the following reports (if any)being 
in Part II and determine whether or not maintaining the exemption from 
disclosure of the information contained therein outweighs the public 
interest in disclosure.

9.  URGENT PART II BUSINESS

To consider any Part II Business accepted by the Chair as urgent.

Agenda Published 10 June 2020



1

STEVENAGE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
MINUTES

Date: Tuesday, 26 May 2020
Time: 6.30pm

Place: Virtual - via Zoom

Present: Councillors: Simon Speller (Chair), Maureen McKay (Vice Chair), 
Michelle Gardner, Doug Bainbridge, Sandra Barr, Jody Hanafin, 
Graham Lawrence, John Lloyd, Sarah-Jane McDonough and 
Graham Snell

Start Time: 6.30pmStart / End 
Time: End Time: 7.45pm

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Liz Harrington and Lizzy Kelly.

There were no declarations of interest.

At this juncture, the Chair thanked Councillor Dave Cullen for his service and work 
on the Committee over many years. He also congratulated Councillor Michelle 
Gardner, previous Vice-Chair on her election as Deputy Mayor and welcomed 
Councillor Maureen Mckay to her new role as Vice-Chair of the Committee.

2  MINUTES - 3 MARCH 2020 

It was RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Development 
Committee held on 3 March 2020 be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chair.

3  PLOT 2000, ARLINGTON BUSINESS PARK, GUNNELLS WOOD ROAD, 
STEVENAGE 

The Committee considered an application for the erection of business and 
household storage facility (Use Class B8) associated car parking, delivery areas and 
associated ancillary works.

The application was before the Committee for determination as it was a major 
commercial development.

The Principal Development Officer gave an introduction to the Committee. The main 
issues for consideration in the determination of the application were its acceptability 
in land use policy terms, Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), impact on visual 
amenity, impact on amenities, parking provision, means of access and highway 
safety, trees and landscaping, impact on the environment and development and 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2

flood risk.

In relation to Land Use Policy Considerations, officers advised that the proposed 
development represented an appropriate use of the site in accordance with the 
adopted Local Plan and would help to support many small and medium enterprises 
and provide uplift in employment floorspace. It would also create an acceptable level 
of employment provision on the site.

In terms of CIL the Committee was advised that for this type of development the 
rating for the scheme was £0.

Officers advised that it was considered that the proposed development would deliver 
a modern, well designed building and bring back into use a vacant area of land and 
help invigorate this part of the employment area and would form a landmark on the 
junction of Broadhall Way and Gunnels Wood Road.

It was noted that that the proposed development was predominantly a self-storage 
facility for households and commercial premises with only 4 full time equivalent 
members of staff working at the building at any one time. The applicant had provided 
evidence to confirm that at other similar existing stores on average 5 vehicles would 
be visiting the site and as such it was considered that there was sufficient parking as 
well as cycle parking available to serve the development. The Principal Officer also 
advised the Committee that the proposed removal of trees on site was acceptable as 
confirmed by the Arboricultural Manager and a suitable landscaping strategy would 
be provided. Officers also advised the Committee that the proposed drainage 
strategy was deemed to be acceptable.

In response to a question, Officers advised that there would be an acceptable 
landscaping scheme to compensate for the loss of some trees on the site but that 
those trees did have limited amenity value.

It was RESOLVED:

That planning application reference 19/00673/FPM be Granted Planning Permission 
subject to the following conditions:-

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:
PL01B; PL02A; PL05C; PL10B; PL11B; PL12C; PL16C; PL20C; PL21B; 
PL30B; PL31B; PL90C; 19-44-01 C.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

3 No development above slab level shall take place until samples of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the hardsurfacing areas, including 
roads, footpaths and car parking areas, hereby permitted have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
external surfaces of the development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. Furthermore, all hard surfacing comprised in the details 

Page 4



3

of shall be carried out within three months of the first occupation of the 
building(s) or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner.

4 The external surfaces of the building hereby permitted shall be constructed in 
accordance with the details specified in the application submission.

5 Prior to the commencement of development (including site clearance) a 
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the works of construction of the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved statement 
and Hertfordshire County Council’s specifications. The Construction 
Management Plan shall address the following:-

(i) Details of construction phasing programme (including any pre-
construction or enabling works);

(ii) Hours of construction operations including times of deliveries and 
removal of waste;

(iii) Demolition and construction works between the hours of 0730 and 
1800 on Mondays to Fridays and between the hours 0830 and 1300 on 
Saturdays only.

(iv) The site set-up and general arrangements for storing plant including 
cranes, materials, machinery and equipment, temporary offices and 
other facilities, construction vehicle parking and loading/unloading and 
vehicle turning areas;

(v) Access and protection arrangements around the site for pedestrians, 
cyclists and other road users;

(vi) Details of the provisions for temporary car parking during construction 
which shall be provided prior to the commencement of construction 
activities;

(vii) The location of construction traffic routes to and from the site, details of 
their signing, monitoring and enforcement measures;

(viii) Screening and hoarding;

(ix) End of day tidying procedures;

(x) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;

(xii) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and adjacent to public highway;

(xiii) Control measures to manage noise and dust;

(xiv) Details of consultation and compliant management with local 
businesses and neighbours;

Page 5



4

(xv) Mechanisms to deal with environmental impacts such as noise and 
vibration, air quality and dust, light and odour;

(xvi) Details of any proposed piling operations, including justification for the 
proposed piling strategy, a vibration impact assessment and proposed 
control and mitigation measures;

(xvii) Details of a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) detailing actual 
waste arising and how waste is managed (i.e. re-used, recycled or sent 
off-site for treatment or disposal) and where it is sent to. Further 
updated should be provided throughout the life of the development at 
an interim of two months or sooner should the level of waste be 
considered significant by the developer.

6 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until the 
relevant access and car parking areas have been fully constructed, surfaced 
and permanently marked out. The car parking areas so provided shall be 
maintained as a permanent ancillary to the development and shall be used for 
no other purpose at any time. 

7 No development including site clearance shall commence until a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 
use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other 
property and the natural environment has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to 
be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, an 
appraisal of remediation options, and proposal of the preferred option(s), and 
a timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme must 
ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land 
after remediation. 

8 Piling using penetrative methods shall not be carried other than with the 
written consent of the local planning authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

9 A scheme for managing any borehole installed for the investigation of soils, 
groundwater or geotechnical purposes shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall provide details of 
how redundant boreholes are to be decommissioned and how any boreholes 
that need to be retained, post-development, for monitoring purposes will be 
secured, protected and inspected. The scheme as approved shall be 
implemented prior to the occupation of the permitted development.

10 The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved surface water drainage strategy carried out by 
Bradbrook Consulting, reference 19-003/300 dated March 2019 the following 
mitigation measures detailed within the strategy:

Page 6



5

1. Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the critical storm events 
so that it will not exceed the surface water run-off rate of 2 l/s during the 1 
in 100 year event plus 40% of climate change event. 

2. Providing storage to ensure no increase in surface water run-off volumes 
for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate 
change event providing a minimum of 356m3 (or such storage volume 
agreed with the LLFA) of total storage volume in attenuation tanks.

3. Discharge of surface water from the private drain into the Thames Water 
sewer network. 

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied 
within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, 
in writing, by the local planning authority. 

11 No development shall place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme 
for the site based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable 
drainage principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The drainage strategy should demonstrate that the 
surface water run-off generated up to and including 1 in 100 year + climate 
change critical storm will be exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site 
following the corresponding rainfall event. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development 
is completed.

1. A detailed drainage plan including the location and provided volume of all 
SuDS features, pipe runs and discharge points. If areas are to be 
designated for informal flooding these should also be shown on a detailed 
site plan. 

2. Exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater than the 1 in 
100 year including climate change allowance.

3. Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including 
cross section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet 
features including any connecting pipe runs. 

4. Final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout 
its lifetime. 

The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in 
accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within the 
scheme or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, 
by the local planning authority. 

12 The secure cycle storage facilities as detailed in the application submission 
shall be installed in accordance with the approved details.

13 The soft landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with drawing numbers 

Page 7



6

PL 05 C and 19-44-01 C unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

14 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the first occupation of the building(s) or the completion of the 
development whichever is the sooner.

15 No tree shown on the approved soft landscaping plan numbers PL 05 C and 
19-44-01 C shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained 
tree detailed on the aforementioned drawings be topped or lopped within five 
years of the completion of development without the written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority.

16 Any trees or plants comprised within the scheme of landscaping, which within 
a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

17 No removal of trees, scrubs or hedges shall be carried out on site between 1st 
March and 31st August inclusive in any year, unless searched before by a 
suitably qualified ornithologist.

18 No external lighting shall be installed on site unless details of such lighting, 
including the intensity of illumination and predicted light contours, have first 
been submitted to, and approved in writing the Local Planning Authority prior 
to first occupation of the development. Any external lighting shall accord with 
the details so approved.

19 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points to include provision of 10% of the car parking 
spaces to be designated for plug-in Electric Vehicles have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
Electric Vehicle Charge Points shall be installed in accordance with the 
approved details and thereafter permanently retained. 

20 Notwithstanding the details shown in this application the treatment of all 
boundaries including details of any walls, fences, gates or other means of 
enclosure shall be submitted to and approved in writing prior to the erection of 
the boundary treatment in question. The approved boundary treatments shall 
be completed before the use of the hereby permitted development 
commences.

21 The cycle parking provision and refuse facilities as detailed in the application 
submission shall be completed in accordance with the approved details 
before the use of the hereby permitted development commences.

INFORMATIVES

Page 8



7

Hertfordshire Highways

Prior to commencement of the development the applicant shall contact 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx or call on 0300 1234 047 to obtain the requirements to arrange a 
site visit to agree a condition survey of the approach of the highway leading to the 
development likely to be used for delivery vehicles to the development. Under the 
provisions of Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980 the developer may be liable for 
any damage caused to the public highway as a result of traffic associated with the 
development. Herts County Council may require an Officer presence during 
movements of larger loads.

Thames Water

There are also public sewers crossing or close to the development, therefore, in 
order to protect the public sewers and to ensure Thames Water can gain access for 
future repair and maintenance, approval should be sought from Thames Water 
where the erection of a building would be over the line of, or would come within 3m 
of a public sewer. 

A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 
discharging ground water into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit 
is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water 
Industry Act 1991. We expect the developer to demonstrate what measures they will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit 
enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by 
telephoning 0203 577 9483 or by emailing 
wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk . Application forms should be completed 
online via www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality. 

Environment Agency

The developer should follow the risk management framework provided in CLR11, 
Model Procedures of Land Contamination, when dealing with land affected by 
contamination. The applicant should refer to the following sources of information and 
advice in dealing with land affected by contamination, especially with respect to 
protection of the groundwater beneath the site:

 Gov.UK – The Environment Agency’s approach to Groundwater protection 
(2017), Technical Guidance Paper, including CLR 11 and GPLC and use 
MCERTS accredited methods for testing soils at the site;

 NPPF – Land affected by contamination;
 BS5930:2015 Code of practice for site investigations;
 BS10175:2011 A2:2017 Code of practice for investigation of potentially 

contaminated sites;
 BS ISO 5667-22:2010 Water quality, sampling, Guidance on the design and 

installation of groundwater monitoring points;
 BS ISO 5667-11:2009 Water quality, sampling, Guidance on sampling of 

Page 9

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
http://www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality


8

groundwater’s (A minimum of 3 groundwater monitoring boreholes are 
required to establish the groundwater levels, flow patterns and groundwater 
quality, more monitoring locations may be required to establish the 
conceptual model).

Hertfordshire Constabulary Crime Prevention Design Advisor. 

The proposed development should achieve Secured by Design (SBD) accreditation 
in order for it to comply with current Building Regulations. The Police Crime 
Prevention Design Advisor can be contracted by telephone on 01707 355227 or by 
email on mark.montgomery@herts.pnn.police.uk.

Community Infrastructure Levy 

Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing 
CIL on 01 April 2020. 
This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact the 
CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even 
if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a 
requirement under Regulation 67 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 (Commencement Notice) must be completed, 
returned and acknowledged by Stevenage Borough Council before building works 
start. Failure to do so will mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments 
and a surcharge will be imposed. NB. please note that a Commencement Notice is 
not required for residential extensions if relief has been granted. 
Stevenage’s adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found 
on the Council’s webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the 
Council’s CIL Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk. 

4  UNIT 2 MONKSWOOD RETAIL PARK, MONKSWOOD WAY, STEVENAGE 

The Committee considered an application for the modification of Clause 7 (goods 
restriction) of Section 106 Agreement (dated 30.11.93) approved under planning 
permission number 02/0231/93/FP.

The Principal Development Officer gave an introduction to the Committee. He 
advised that the main issue for consideration in the determination of this application 
was whether the proposed modification of Clause 7 attached to the S106 agreement 
of planning permission 2/0231/93 was acceptable in accordance with the retail, 
highways and parking policies set out in the NPPF and the adopted Local Plan.

The Committee was advised that the proposed modification had been sufficiently 
supported by an acceptable ‘Sequential Test’ which demonstrated that there were 
no sequentially suitable sites within the town centre and it would not have a negative 
impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre. In addition it would ensure that 
a vacant retail unit would be brought back into use and provide additional 
employment for the area and not prejudice highway safety.

In response to a question, the proposed retail unit would allow The Food Warehouse 

Page 10

mailto:mark.montgomery@herts.pnn.police.uk
http://www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL
mailto:CIL@stevenage.gov.uk


9

(TFW) (operated by Iceland Foods Ltd) to take out a long term lease of the 
premises. The TFW format was targeted at providing bulk food shopping 
opportunities. The existing Iceland store located in the town centre was to be 
retained, the ideology being that the two stores would complement each other. The 
applicant had indicated that it was hoped that TFW would be open before Christmas 
2020.

It was RESOLVED that the variation to Clause 7a (goods restriction) of the S106 
agreement to delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation 
in conjunction with the Council’s appointed Solicitor, to agree the precise wording of 
the variation, including the personal clause, to the S106 agreement be approved.

5  SHEPHALBURY PARK, BROADHALL WAY, STEVENAGE, HERTS 

The Committee considered an application for the erection of 1 no. 6m high flagpole.

The application was before the Committee for determination as the applicant was 
Stevenage Borough Council.

The Principal Development Officer gave an introduction to the Committee. He 
advised that the current application sought advertisement consent for the proposed 
erection of 1 no. 6m high flagpole constructed from fibreglass. The flag would be 
cloth with white lettering on a green background and would read ‘Green Flag Award’ 
and include the green flag symbol of two figures and a tree.

It was RESOLVED:

That ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT BE GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

‘Location of Flag’ and ‘Flag Details’

2. This consent shall be for a limited period only, expiring five years after the 
date of this notice and on or before that date the advertisements shall be 
removed and the buildings/land restored to its former condition.

3. (A) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner 
of the site or any other person with an interest in the site entitles to grant 
permission.

(B) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to:-

i) Endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour 
or aerodrome (civil or military);

ii) Obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway 
signal or aid to navigation by water or air; or

Page 11



10

iii) Hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security of 
surveillance or for measuring speed of any vehicle.

(C) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 
advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the 
visual amenity of the site.

(D) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 
displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not 
endanger the public.

(E) Where an advertisement is required under these Regulations to be 
removed, the site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public 
or impair visual amenity. 

6  INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS 

Noted.

7  INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS / CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 

Noted.

8  URGENT PART I BUSINESS 

None.

9  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Not required.

10  URGENT PART II BUSINESS 

None.

CHAIR

Page 12



Part I – Release
to Press

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee

Agenda Item:

Date: 18 June 2020
Author: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836
Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257
Contact Officer: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836

Application No: 19/00283/FP

Location: Barnwell Middle School, Shephall Green, Stevenage

Proposal: Extension and resurfacing of playing courts, erection of 4no. 8m high 
floodlights, installation of 4.5m high fencing and siting of storage 
container. 

Drawing Nos.: SSL 2587 03 Rev 04; SSL 2587 04 Rev 02; SSL 2587 07 Rev 02; SSL 
2587 02 Rev 01; SSL 2587 06 Rev 01; SSL 2587 01; SSL 2587 02.

Applicant: Mr A Petitt, Barnwell Middle School

Date Valid: 10 May 2019

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION

 

Plan for information purposes only

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



- 2 -

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This application was previously reported to the meeting of the Planning and Development 
Committee held on 3 March 2020. The application was deferred by the Committee in order for 
the school to consult with local residents in respect of the hours of use following numerous 
objections and a call-in from Councillor Sarah Mead. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this report is to provide further information in respect of said consultation with 

residents and Councillor Sarah Mead to establish reduced hours of use outside school times. 
Also, to cover a comment made in respect of a possible badger set to the north of the school. 
As concern regarding these issues was the reason for deferring the application, this report only 
deals with those aspects of the proposal. The previous report to the Committee is attached as 
an appendix to this item which deals with the other aspects of the proposal which the 
Committee considered to be acceptable.

2 PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

2.1 No further representations have been received following the March committee meeting.

3 CONSULTATIONS

3.1 Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust

3.1.1 Regarding comments made in respect of a possible badger sett on land to the north of the 
school site, the proposed flood lighting would not impact on this possible sett given the 
distance between the two areas, and any badgers living in the area being urban badgers 
would not be affected by light pollution.

4 APPRAISAL 

4.1 The application before the committee is the same as that which was considered at the March 
meeting. This identifies the provision of an increased existing football court re-laid with 3G 
artificial turf carpet and 3m high mesh fencing, re-laying of the tennis/netball courts and 4.5m 
high mesh fencing, installation of 4no. 8m high floodlights and erection of a shipping container 
for storage. 

4.2 The matter at hand pertains to the hours of use which were previously proposed as – 

 Monday to Friday 08:00 to 20:00 hours
 Saturday 10:00 to 20:00 hours
 Sunday 10:00 to 18:00 hours

Following consultation with local residents and Councillor Mead the hours have been reduced 
and are proposed as follows – 

 Monday to Friday 08:30 to 19:00 hours
 Saturdays 10:00 to 15:00 hours
 Sundays and bank holidays no use

Page 14



- 3 -

4.3 In summary, the reduced hours are considered to take account of the main reasons for 
objection from residents, and members at the March meeting. Subject to a condition being 
imposed stipulating these hours it is not considered there are grounds to refuse the 
application.  

5 CONCLUSIONS 

5.1 To recap, the proposed change of use is considered to be acceptable in land use policy terms 
and would not harm the character and appearance of the area or the amenities of adjoining 
premises. Furthermore, the development would accord with the Council’s adopted car parking 
standards and following further consultation with the Highway and Fire Authorities is 
considered to be acceptable in highway safety terms. Accordingly, it is recommended that 
planning permission be granted.

6.      RECOMMENDATIONS 

6.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:
SSL 2587 03 Rev 04; SSL 2587 04 Rev 02; SSL 2587 07 Rev 02; SSL 2587 02 Rev 01; SSL 
2587 06 Rev 01; SSL 2587 01; SSL 2587 02
REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.
REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

3 The approved hours of use as outlined in condition 4 shall be for a temporary period of 12 
months only following first use of the facilities, the date of which shall first be notified in writing 
to the Local Planning Authority. On expiration of the 12 month period or before that date the 
hours of operation shall revert back to those of the school operating times.
REASON:- To enable the Local Planning Authority to reconsider the appropriateness of the 
extended operating hours on the amenity of neighbouring residential properties at the 
expiration of the temporary period.

4 The sports facility and its associated sports floodlights shall be operated in accordance with 
the approved Noise Management Plan and only during the following hours (excluding a 30 
minute allowance for closure of the facilities after the specified times):

a) 08.30 and 19.00 hours Monday to Friday;
b) 10.00 and 15.00 Saturday.
REASON:- To balance illuminating the sports facility for maximum use and benefit with the 
interest of amenity and sustainability. 

5 No occupation shall commence of the enhanced games court until a community use 
agreement has been prepared and a copy of the completed agreement has been provided to 
the Local Planning Authority. The agreement shall apply to the sport facilities and include 
details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by non-educational establishment users, 
management responsibilities and a mechanism for review the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be used at any time other than in strict compliance with the approved 
agreement.
REASON:- To secure well managed safe community access to the sports facilities and ensure 
sufficient to the development of sport. 

Page 15



- 4 -

6 The games court area in regards to surfacing, fencing and line markings shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and specification as agreed by Sport England.
REASON:- To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable.  

Pro-active Statement

Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 
through positive engagement with the applicant during the determination process which led to 
improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore acted pro-actively in line with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015.

7. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 
relating to this item.

2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision adopted 
January 2012.

3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted May 2019.

4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018. 

5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred to 
in this report.

6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework February 
2019 and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014.

Page 16



APPENDIX

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee

Agenda Item:

Date: 3 March 2020
Author: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836
Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257
Contact Officer: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242836

Application No: 19/00283/FP

Location: Barnwell Middle School, Shephall Green, Stevenage

Proposal: Extension and resurfacing of playing courts, erection of 6no. 12m high 
floodlights, installation of 4.5m high fencing and siting of storage 
container. 

Drawing Nos.: SSL 2587 03 Rev 04; SSL 2587 04 Rev 02; SSL 2587 07 Rev 02; SSL 
2587 02 Rev 01; SSL 2587 06 Rev 01; SSL 2587 01; SSL 2587 02.

Applicant: Mr A Petitt, Barnwell Middle School

Date Valid: 10 May 2019

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION

 

Plan for information purposes only

1. SITE DESCRIPTION

Page 17



- 2 -

1.1 The application site is located on the western side of Shephall Green which is also designated 
a conservation area. The site comprises the Barnwell Middle School (formerly Heathcote 
School) which has a number of single storey and two-storey utilitarian designed school blocks. 
The blocks are generally of steel frame construction with single glazed crittall windows along 
with metal cladding and flat roof areas finished in a ply membrane. The school site comprises 
a brick-built single storey building with a gable-end roof clad in concrete inter-locking roof tiles 
along with single-storey mobile classrooms. The school site also comprises a large area of 
playing fields and a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA), which is also the subject of this 
application, which is constructed from concrete and is enclosed by a 2.5m high wire mesh 
fence. 

1.2 The surrounding area comprises 1960's suburban style terrace properties through to detached 
properties which have a unique architectural style. To the east of the site lies Greenside 
School. In addition, there are many buildings in the conservation area, particularly houses, 
which date back from the 1960s and 70s along with more modern developments such as The 
Grove which comprises of detached and terraced houses. The main character of the 
conservation area is low density with green areas and mature trees, resulting in a semi-rural 
atmosphere. There is also the church of St. Mary’s which dates from the 14th Century. The 
area also comprises the Rectory and a public house (The Red Lion).

2. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

2.1 Planning consultation reference 01/00107/REG3 from Hertfordshire County Council under 
Regulation 3 sought the Council’s comments on the erection of a single storey building to 
accommodate four new classrooms. Objection was raised to the proposed development in 
May 2001.

2.2 Planning consultation reference 04/00026/REG3 from Hertfordshire County Council under 
Regulation 3 sought the Council’s comments on the erection of a Mobile learning support unit. 
No objection was raised to the proposed development in February 2004.

2.3 Planning consultation reference 04/00513/REG3 from Hertfordshire County Council under 
Regulation 3 sought the Council’s comments on the erection of 5-bay double mobile 
classroom unit. No objection was raised to the proposed development in November 2004.

2.4 Planning consultation reference 13/00004/CC from Hertfordshire County Council sought the 
Council’s comments on the erection of 1no. eight classroom teaching block, 1no. two 
classroom teaching block, external canopy, construction of new footpath, covered walkway, 
new pedestrian access, new informal recreation space, fencing and associated matters. No 
objection was raised to the proposed development in February 2013.

2.5 Planning application 14/00414/FP sought permission for the installation of a 2 class mobile 
classroom (relocated from Barnwell East Campus). This application was granted permission in 
November 2014.

3. THE CURRENT APPLICATION 

3.1 This application seeks planning permission to increase the size of the existing football court 
from 32.20m by 31.20m to 39.67m by 31.20m. The football court would be re-laid with a 3G 
artificial turf carpet and would be enclosed by a 3m high wire mesh fence. The fence would 
incorporate a double leaf gate at the northern end with foot well and boot scraper and a double 
entrance gate at the southern end.

Page 18



- 3 -

3.2 The proposal also seeks permission to re-lay the tennis court and netball court area with a 
two-tone colour coated macadam. The total court area which currently measures 33.7m by 
50.60m would not be extended as part of the development proposal. However, it would be 
enclosed by a 4.5m high wire mesh fence along with a single-leaf gate and foot well along with 
a double entrance gate at the southern end. To the south of the court a shipping container is to 
be erected which would measure 6m by 2.44m with an overall height of 2.59m and would be 
painted green. This application also seeks permission for the installation of 6 no. 8m high 
floodlight columns around the 3G pitch.

3.3 This application comes before the Planning and Development Committee as it was called-in by 
Councillor Sarah Mead. The application was called-in on the following grounds:-

 Impact on neighbouring amenities;
 Car parking; and
 Highway issues.

3.4 In addition, the call-in was made as it was advised that concerns were raised about the light 
spill in the evening and the impact this would have on neighbouring properties in Greencote 
Mews. In addition, it was advised that there was no public communication regarding the 
anticipated usage of the facility. Furthermore, it was set out that there is restricted parking as 
well as limited road space for turning etc and the potential traffic of car collecting/dropping off 
users which will impact residents. Moreover, it was advised in the call-in request that residents 
already alter their day to day routine during school hours and further impact into the evening 
would be overbearing. Concern was also raised about noise during evening times and the 
disturbance this will cause local residents. This is due to the application proposing this facility 
to be open every weekday and weekend until 9pm. Therefore, the level of noise may become 
overbearing in terms of regularity.

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 

4.1 The proposal has been publicised by way of letters to adjoining premises and site notices 
have been erected. At the date of drafting this report, five objections have been received from 
numbers 40, 48, 50 and 54 Shephall Green and 339 Lonsdale Road. A summary of the 
objections raised are as follows:-

 The proposed lighting would have a detrimental impact on amenities of local residents;
 The development would generate unacceptable noise levels which would affect the 

amenities of local residents;
 The development is a commercial enterprise and not a community facility;
 There would be insufficient parking to serve the development;
 The development will result in on-street parking;
 There are already similar facilities in the area which are already in operation, so the 

proposed development cannot be justified;
 The scheme is in an inappropriate location due to the school site being surrounded by 

private housing;
 This scheme will affect the well-being of local residents;
 The information provided by the applicant in terms of the proposed development is 

inaccurate and misleading;
 The development would result in a loss of privacy;
 Will the Council reduce rates/council tax to compensate the impact the development 

would have on residents;
 The development would further exacerbate existing highway issues in the area;
 Similar applications in the past were rejected by the Council;
 The development would not benefit pupils in the evening;

Page 19



- 4 -

 The Council has failed to make the documents available for residents to view;
 No consideration has been given to the concerns raised by local residents;
 The applicant has not engaged with the local community on the application;
 The amendments to the scheme are a complete disregard to the problems the 

community will face if permission was granted;
 The development is of no real benefit for the school;
 The school should look at using other facilities as it would be cheaper for the school 

and this would have less of an impact on local residents.

4.2 Please note that the above is not a verbatim copy of the representations which have been 
received. A full copy of the representations received by the Council can be viewed on the 
Council’s website.

5. CONSULTATIONS

5.1 B.E.A.M.S

5.1.1 In accordance with NPPF, para. 189 the application has been accompanied by a Heritage 
Statement which considered the impact of the proposed development upon the setting of the 
Shephall Green Conservation Area. The application has been amended and the floodlighting 
to the courts on the east side, closest to the Shephall Green CA boundary have been omitted 
which could be considered a visual improvement in relation to the local amenity and setting of 
the Conservation Area.

5.1.2 The proposed new / replacement playing courts with associated fencing, storage container 
and floodlighting (at a reduced level) are considered to preserve the setting of the Shephall 
Green Conservation Area and will not have an adverse impact upon the setting of any Listed 
Buildings within Shephall Green, no objection.

5.2 Sport England

5.2.1 The proposed development would enhance two games court areas by converting one area to 
a small artificial grass pitch (AGP) with a 3G surface and resurfacing the other court. The 
games court would be extended to the south onto the adjoining natural turf playing field. The 
proposal to convert one of the games court areas into a small AGP with a 3G surface suitable 
for football would provide an all-weather outdoor sport facility which could be used 
continuously throughout the year and intensively due to its surface. Unlike the macadam 
surface that it would replace, the AGP could be used for pitch sports such as football and tag 
rugby.

5.2.2 Due to the ground conditions of the existing natural turf playing field, it will unlikely to be 
available for use by the school for some parts of the year especially in the winter. The AGP 
would help address any capacity and surface quality restrictions associated with the use of the 
natural turf playing field and could substantially improve the delivery of the PE curriculum. In 
addition to helping meet the school’s needs, it would also offer potential for community use 
and the proposal to make the facility available for community use outside of school hours is 
welcomed. Stevenage Borough Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy acknowledged demand for 
additional 3G AGP provision to meet club training needs and while the size of the facility would 
prevent any formal match use (for FA affiliated football clubs), it would still be suitable for 
training and small sided recreational matches played on an informal basis. 

5.2.3 The implementation of the facility if it had secured community access would therefore make a 
contribution to addressing local community playing pitch needs. I have consulted the Football 
Foundation (who represent the Football Association and the Herts County FA) who have 
advised that they are supportive of the principle of proposal due to the potential benefits it will 
offer for meeting local community football needs.

Page 20



- 5 -

5.2.4 The resurfacing of the remaining courts would improve their quality and providing a higher 
quality consistent surface with new link marking for tennis, netball and basketball. The new 
fencing proposed around both games court areas would provide an enhancement to the 
facilities by providing modern weldmesh fencing that would be more durable from a ball stop 
and maintenance perspective than the chain link fencing that it would replace. The proposal 
for sports lighting around both areas would also be welcomed as this would allow the games 
courts to be used for community use in the evenings as well as extra-curricular use by the 
school. 

5.2.5 In terms of the impact on the playing field, the extension to the games court area to the south 
would encroach onto part of the natural turf playing field that is (or has been) marked out for 
playing pitches especially summer athletics tracks and throwing areas. However, the 
encroachment is considered to be modest and sufficient space would appear to exist on the 
remaining playing field for any pitches that would be affected to be realigned or relocated 
without impacting on other pitches.

5.2.6 As a non-statutory consultee, the proposed development would provide significantly enhanced 
games courts that would offer potential to make a contribution towards meeting community 
sports facility needs in the Stevenage area for the reasons set out above. The proposals are 
considered to meet the above objective therefore. Sport England would therefore wish to 
confirm its support for the principle of the proposed development as a non-statutory consultee. 
The proposal for the facilities to include sports lighting is welcomed and this is considered 
essential as this will offer significant sports development benefits in terms of facilitating use 
during peak community use periods. Without sports lighting, it would not be possible for the 
facility to meet the needs that it has been designed to address and it may not be financially 
viable to implement.

5.2.7 While Sport England would not require a planning condition to be imposed relating to the 
hours of use of the games courts or their lighting, it is acknowledged that the Council may wish 
to impose such a condition in order to address potential impact on residential amenity or the 
environment. If planning permission is granted, it is recommended that any condition that may 
be imposed by the Council is not overly restrictive in this regard. It is advised that peak 
community use of similar facilities usually extends until 10.00 pm on weekday evenings. If the 
Council wishes to impose a planning condition restricting the hours of use of the games courts 
or their sports lighting, consideration should be given to using condition 14 from our model 
conditions schedule.

5.2.8 It should be noted that if the Council sought to remove the proposed sports lighting from the 
application or impose significant restrictions on the hours of use of the games courts or their 
sports lighting in the evenings this may affect our position on the planning application. If such 
an approach is to be taken it is requested that Sport England be advised before the planning 
application is determined to provide an opportunity to review our position on the planning 
application.

5.2.9 If noise generated from the use of the MUGA is an issue in the determination of the planning 
application, Sport England has published a guidance note on the planning implications of 
artificial grass pitch acoustics. This is intended to aid in developing a more consistent 
approach when assessing the noise associated with artificial grass pitch use and to provide 
some rules of thumb when assessing noise impact.

5.2.10 Sport England does not wish to object to the application as the benefits of sport are 
considered to clearly outweigh the detriment caused by the impact on the playing field. This is 
subject to conditions if permission were to be granted. These conditions would be as follows:-

 Games Court Area Design Specification;
 Community Use Agreement;

Page 21



- 6 -

 Hours of operation.

5.2.11 Following further correspondence with Sport England (09th September 2019) due to additional 
information being provided by the applicant in terms of the specifications of the MUGA, Sport 
England have confirmed that these details are satisfactory. Consequently, Sport England 
recommend the condition on the games court area design specification is not required if 
planning permission were to be granted.   

5.2.12 Following the omission of the floodlighting to the eastern courts further consultation with Sport 
England advised that the absence of floodlighting around these games courts would diminish 
the sports development benefits of the overall proposal as the ability for Barnwell School and 
the community to use these games courts during the evening and other periods of poor 
daylight would be restricted. 

5.2.13 However, having reviewed the application our position would remain as set out in our 
response of 30 May 2019 (contained above in paragraphs 5.2.1 to 5.2.10) as the benefits of 
the project to sport would still be considered to outweigh the impact on the playing field despite 
the proposed omission of the floodlighting from the games courts i.e. the proposal would still 
meet exception 5 of our playing fields policy. In summary, no objection is made to the 
application subject to a condition being imposed relating to a community use agreement as 
previously set out.

5.3 Hertfordshire County Council Highways

5.3.1 The County Council as the Highways Authority consider the development would not result in 
any highways issues. Therefore, it does not wish to restrict the grant of planning permission.  

5.4 Environmental Health 

5.5.1 From an Environmental Health perspective, the playing hours requested are excessive.
I would suggest that 18.00 is a more suitable finishing time for Sundays and Bank Holidays, 
taking into account the likely community use on these days. Monday to Saturday it should be 
established that all activity is ceased, cleared away and personnel are gone by 21.00, not that 
the last match finishes at this time. I understand Planning can recommend a 12- month trial 
period, and I would support this. I would remind all parties that Statutory Nuisance provisions 
still apply, notwithstanding.

  
6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 

6.1 Background to the Development Plan

6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the decision 
on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory development plan 
comprises:

• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007)

6.2 Central Government Advice

6.2.1 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in February 2019. This 
largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 version of the NPPF albeit with 
some revisions to policy. At the time the revised NPPF was published, the Stevenage Local 

Page 22



- 7 -

Plan was subject to a Holding Direction by the Secretary of State following an Examination in 
Public in 2017. On 25 March 2019 the Secretary of State withdrew the Holding Direction on 
the understanding that the Council would adopt it as part of the Development Plan. The 
Council are content that the policies in the Local Plan are in conformity with the revised NPPF 
and that the Local Plan be considered up to date for the purpose of determining planning 
applications.

6.2.2 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
NPPF is itself a material consideration. Given that the advice that the weight to be given to 
relevant policies in the local plan will depend on their degree of consistency with the NPPF, it 
will be necessary in the determination of this application to assess the consistency of the 
relevant local plan policies with the NPPF. The NPPF applies a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. 

6.2.3 In addition to the NPPF, advice in Planning Practice Guidance must also be taken into 
account. It states that, where the development plan is absent, silent or the relevant policies are 
out of date, paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires the application 
to be determined in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
unless otherwise specified.

6.3 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (2019)

Policy SP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
Policy SP2: Sustainable Development in Stevenage;
Policy SP8: Good Design;
Policy SP9: Healthy Communities;
Policy SP11: Climate Change, Flooding and Pollution;
Policy SP12: Green infrastructure and the natural environment;
Policy SP13: The historic environment;
Policy IT5: Parking and Access;
Policy GD1: High Quality Design;
Policy HC5: New health, social and community facilities;
Policy HC7: New and refurbished leisure and cultural facilities;
Policy FP7: Pollution;
Policy FP1: Climate Change; and
Policy NH10: Conservation areas. 

6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents 

Parking Provision Supplementary Planning Document January 2012.
Stevenage Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document January 2009
Shephall Green Conservation Area Management Plan July 2012. 

7. APPRAISAL 

7.1 The main issues for consideration in the determination of this application are its acceptability in 
land use policy terms, the impact on the character and appearance of the area and the setting 
of the conservation area, impact upon neighbouring amenity, impact on the highway network 
and parking provision.

Page 23



- 8 -

7.2 Land Use Policy Considerations

7.2.1 Policy HC5 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (2019) states that planning 
permission for new health, social or community facilities, or to modernise, extend or re-provide 
existing facilities, on an unallocated site will be granted where:

a. A need for the facility has been identified;

b. The site is appropriate in terms of its location and accessibility; and

c. The facility is integrated with existing health, social or community facilities where 
appropriate. 

7.2.2 Policy HC7 of the Local Plan (2019) stipulates that for new and refurbished leisure and cultural 
facilities, or to modernise, extend or re-provide existing facilities on an unallocated site will be 
granted where there is a need for the facility, the site is appropriate in terms of its location and 
accessibility and with the exception of sports facilities, a sequential approach to site selection 
can be satisfactorily demonstrated and an impact assessment has been provided where 
required by Policy TC13 and it has been demonstrated that there will be no significant adverse 
impact. 

7.2.3 The proposed development seeks permission to re-surface one block of tennis courts and re-
surface and extend the football court with 3G artificial grass with new fencing and floodlights. 
The proposed development would help to provide an all-weather outdoor sports facility which 
could be used continuously though the year. This is because unlike the current surface, the 
Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) could be used for pitch sports such as football and tag rugby. In 
addition, the existing natural turf pitches are not always available all year round, especially in 
the winter months. As such, the AGP would address any capacity and surface quality 
restrictions associated with natural turf playing field and therefore, as advised by Sport 
England, would help to improve the delivery of the PE curriculum.

7.2.4 Further to support the schools requirements for PE, the facility has also been designed so that 
it can be used by the community outside of school hours. The Council’s Sports Facility 
Assessment and Strategy 2014 – 2031 (2014) identifies that there is a demand for additional 
3G AGP provision in order to meet club training needs. In addition, as advised by Sport 
England, whilst the size of the facility would prevent any formal match use (for FA affiliated 
football clubs), it would still be suitable for training and small sided recreational matches which 
are played on an informal basis. Therefore, Sport England considers the development would 
make a contribution to addressing local community playing pitch needs. They also advised that 
the FA and Herts County FA are supportive of the proposal due to the potential benefits it will 
offer for meeting local community football needs. 

7.2.5 The resurfacing of the remaining courts would help to improve their quality by providing a 
higher quality surface which would be more suitable for tennis, netball and basketball 
throughout the year. This will be utilised by the school as part of the PE curriculum and would 
also be available outside of school hours for the local community. 

7.2.6 Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that due to the enlargement of the football court, this 
would encroach onto part of the natural turf playing field that is marked out for playing pitches 
especially the summer athletics tracks and throwing areas. However, the level of encroachment 
is limited and sufficient space would appear to exist on the remaining playing field for pitches 
that would be affected to be realigned or relocated without impacting on other pitches. As such, 

Page 24



- 9 -

Sport England with regards to playing fields does not raise any concerns with the proposed 
development in this instance. 

7.2.7 Given the aforementioned, there is an established need for the development in terms of both 
the school as well as meeting the needs of the local community as identified in the Council’s 
Sports Facility Assessment.  Looking at the site’s location, it is already an existing facility which 
is utilised by the school and is within a sustainable location due to the site being located within 
the urban area of the town. The site is also accessible by foot, by bicycle and by public 
transport as there are bus stops along Hydean Way which is located just to the north of the 
site. The development would also be integrated as part of the school and being a sports facility, 
a sequential assessment and impact assessment does not need to be undertaken in this 
instance.

7.2.8 Therefore, it is considered that the principle of the development is acceptable as it would help 
to firstly improve the facilities used by the school in relation to the PE curriculum. Secondly, the 
development would help to meet the needs of the community in terms of providing suitable 
facilities for sports such as football and touch rugby along with netball, tennis and basketball. 
However, to ensure that the facility is secured for the use of the local community, Sport 
England recommends a condition be imposed if permission were to be granted. This condition 
will require the preparation of a community use agreements which has to be submitted to the 
Council and is prepared in consultation with Sport England. This agreement will set out the 
School’s policy and arrangements for community use of its sports facilities and covers matters 
such as hours of use, types of bookings and restrictions on community use. 

7.2.9 The above condition is therefore, justifiable as it would help to alleviate a situation where 
community access to the facility outside of school hours does not take place. In addition, this 
agreement will provide clarity and formalisation to community access to the facility which also 
helps to meet the Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy priorities. 

7.3 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area and the Setting of the 
Conservation Area. 

7.3.1 In terms of design, Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
stipulates that planning decisions should ensure development functions well and add to the 
overall quality of the area, not just in the short term but over the lifetime of the development. It 
also sets out that development should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, 
layout and appropriate and effective landscaping is sympathetic to local character and history, 
including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting. Paragraph 130 of the 
NPPF states that “permission should be refused for development of poor design that fail to 
make available opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and 
the way it functions”. 

7.3.2 Turning to the impact on the setting of the Shephall Green Conservation Area, paragraphs 193 
to 196 of the NPPF have to be considered in the determination of this planning application. 
This is because, as established through case law, if there is any harm to these heritage 
assets, great weight has to be given as to the impact the development may have on these 
assets. Dealing with Paragraph 193, it stipulates that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Paragraph 194 sets out that any 
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or 
destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification. Paragraph 195 sets out that where a proposed development will lead to 

Page 25



- 10 -

substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning 
authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or 
total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. 

7.3.3 In reference to paragraph 196 of the NPPF (2019), this sets out that where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

7.3.4 Policy GD1 of the Local Plan (2019) requires all forms of development to meet a high standard 
of design which includes form of built development, elevational treatment and materials along 
with how the development would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between 
buildings, landscape design and relevant aspects of sustainable design. Policy NH10 of the 
same document states that development proposals affecting a conservation area should have 
regard to the relevant Conservation Area Management Plan SPD. 

7.3.5 The proposed development, as detailed in paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 of this report, seeks 
planning permission for extension and resurfacing of the playing courts combined with the 
erection of 6 no. 8m high flood lights. The scheme also comprises new fence enclosures and 
the erection of a container which would be used for storage of equipment. The proposed 
courts themselves are already in place with a very minor enlargement to the existing football 
court. The proposed fence enclosures are similar in height to existing fencing in the school 
premises including fencing utilised at Greenside School which adjoins the application site. 
With regards to the floodlights, whilst they would be visible from certain vantage points in the 
conservation area, they have been reduced in number and height and would have a slim 
profile and as such, are not overly obtrusive. In addition, the majority of the development 
would not be readily visible from the public realm as it would be screened by existing buildings 
within Barnwell Middle School, Greenside School as well as residential properties which 
border the school site. 

7.3.6 Following consultation with the Council Conservation and Historic Advisor, they consider that 
the proposed development would preserve the historic character of the setting of the 
conservation area. In addition, the majority of the development would not be readily visible 
from the public realm and is set against the backdrop of the existing school. Consequently, the 
proposed development would not have a detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the 
wider street scene.

7.4 Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity

7.4.1 Policy FP7 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) states that all proposals should minimise, and 
where possible, reduce air, light and noise pollution. Applications where pollution is suspected 
must contain sufficient information for the Council to make a full assessment of potential 
hazards and impacts. However, planning permission will be granted where it can be 
demonstrated that the development will not have unacceptable impacts on:-

a. The natural environment, general amenity and the tranquillity of the wider area, including 
noise and light pollution;

b. Health and safety of the public; and

c. The compliance with statutory environmental quality standards. 

7.4.2 The proposed development site is located within 5m from the residential properties in 
Greencote Mews. As such, due to the nature of the proposed development combined with the 
installation of floodlights, the level of noise generated from the development along with the 

Page 26



- 11 -

level of illumination from the floodlighting could potentially have a detrimental impact on 
nearby residential properties.   

7.4.3 Further to the concerns raised over light spillage, the scheme has been amended to remove 
the floodlighting associated with the eastern courts which provide netball, tennis and 
basketball facilities. The remaining 6no. floodlights for the 3G pitch are of sufficient distance 
from the occupiers of Greencote Mews that luminance levels from light spillage are of an 
acceptable level, especially give the reduced height of the light columns.

7.4.4 In respect of noise nuisance, it is noted that the nature of the courts for sports use will 
undoubtedly bring with it a level of noise which is unavoidable, especially being an existing 
school site. The main issue with possible further noise nuisance relates to the community use 
of the courts outside of school hours, and over the weekends. The school have agreed and 
submitted a Noise Management Plan which addresses potential noise sources, the nearest 
noise sensitive locations, a noise policy for use of the facilities, a noise complaints procedure, 
and complaint recording. Furthermore the proposed hours of use have been revised to reflect 
the following – 

 Monday to Friday                  08:00 to 20:00 hours
 Saturday                                10:00 to 20:00 hours
 Sunday                                  10:00 to 18:00 hours

 
7.4.5 The proposed hours and Noise Management Plan are considered to be acceptable in terms of 

reducing noise nuisance for neighbouring residential properties. The Council’s Environmental 
Health team support a 12 month temporary permission to allow for monitoring of the revised 
proposed hours, in conjunction with the Noise Management Plan which would be controlled by 
imposition of a condition. This will help to reduce the level of impact the development would 
have on the amenities of residents who reside in nearby residential properties and allow the 
Council to assess the impact for the 12 month period of time. 

7.5 Impact on the Highway Network

7.5.1 The proposed development site is currently served by an existing vehicular access off 
Shephall Green which is a local access road with a speed restriction of 30mph. The access 
has acceptable visibility splays in accordance with Manual for Streets and Hertfordshire 
County Council’s Roads in Hertfordshire Guidance. This application does not seek to extend 
or alter the existing access arrangements into the school. 

7.5.2 In terms of vehicle traffic generation, there would be a limited increase in vehicles travelling to 
and from the site after school hours by persons looking to use the courts. However, the 
increase in traffic generation will generally occur outside of peak hours. Therefore, and 
following consultation with Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority, they do not 
consider the proposed development would prejudice the safety and operation of the highway. 

7.6 Parking provision

7.6.1 Policy IT5 of the Local Plan (2019) states that planning permission will be granted where 
proposals comply with the parking standards as set out in the Council’s Car Parking Standards 
SPD (2012). The Council’s Car Parking Standards SPD (2012) sets out the maximum number 
of parking spaces which would be required to support the proposed development. The relevant 
parking requirements for the school are as follows:-

 1 space per full time member of staff;
 1 space per 100 pupils,
 1 space per 8 pupils over aged 17+;
 1 space per 20 pupils aged under 17.

Page 27



- 12 -

7.6.2 Taking the above standards into consideration, as the proposed development is not seeking to 
increase the number of staff or pupils at the school, then no additional off-street parking would 
be required to serve the development in this instance. In terms of the use of the courts after 
school hours, as this would be considered ancillary to the established use of the site as a 
school, the Council can only assess the proposal against the aforementioned standards.

7.6.3 Notwithstanding the above, a professional judgement has to be made as to whether or not 
there is sufficient off-street parking to serve the development for after school hour’s visitors. 
The school currently has approximately 80 parking spaces and 4 disabled spaces. This is 
considered to be more than sufficient to accommodate the use of courts in out of school hours. 
Therefore, it is unlikely the development would result in generating on-street parking which 
could have a detrimental impact on the safety and operation of the highway network.  

8.   CONCLUSIONS

8.1 In summary, it is considered that the proposed development would provide suitable facilities in 
order for the school to meet its PE curriculum requirements. In addition, the proposed 
development would also help to address the shortage of AGP facilities as identified in the 
Council’s Sports Facility Assessment and Strategy 2014 – 2031 (2014). The development 
would also not have a detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the street scene or the 
historic character setting of the conservation area. Furthermore, and through appropriate 
conditions, the development is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the amenities of 
nearby residents. Moreover, the scheme would have sufficient off-street parking and would not 
prejudice the safety and operation of the highway network. 

8.2 Given the above, the proposed development accords with the Policies contained within the 
adopted Local Plan (2019), the Council’s Supplementary Planning Documents, the NPPF 
(2019) and NPPG (2014). 

9.      RECOMMENDATIONS 

9.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:
SSL 2587 03 Rev 04; SSL 2587 04 Rev 02; SSL 2587 07 Rev 02; SSL 2587 02 Rev 01; SSL 
2587 06 Rev 01; SSL 2587 01; SSL 2587 02
REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.
REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

3 The approved hours of use as outlined in condition 4 shall be for a temporary period of 12 
months only following first use of the facilities, the date of which shall first be notified in writing 
to the Local Planning Authority. On expiration of the 12 month period or before that date the 
hours of operation shall revert back to those of the school operating times.
REASON:- To enable the Local Planning Authority to reconsider the appropriateness of the 
extended operating hours on the amenity of neighbouring residential properties at the 
expiration of the temporary period.

4 The sports facility and its associated sports floodlights shall be operated in accordance with 
the approved Noise Management Plan and only during the following hours (excluding a 30 
minute allowance for closure of the facilities after the specified times):

Page 28



- 13 -

a) 08.00 and 20.00 hours Monday to Friday;
b) 10.00 and 20.00 Saturday; and
c) 10.00 and 18.00 Sunday.

REASON:- To balance illuminating the sports facility for maximum use and benefit with the 
interest of amenity and sustainability. 

5 No occupation shall commence of the enhanced games court until a community use 
agreement has been prepared and a copy of the completed agreement has been provided to 
the Local Planning Authority. The agreement shall apply to the sport facilities and include 
details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by non-educational establishment users, 
management responsibilities and a mechanism for review the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be used at any time other than in strict compliance with the approved 
agreement.
REASON:- To secure well managed safe community access to the sports facilities and ensure 
sufficient to the development of sport. 

6 The games court area in regards to surfacing, fencing and line markings shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and specification as agreed by Sport England.
REASON:- To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable.  

Pro-active Statement

Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 
through positive engagement with the applicant during the determination process which led to 
improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore acted pro-actively in line with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 
relating to this item.

2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision adopted 
January 2012.

3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted May 2019.

4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018. 

5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred to 
in this report.

6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework February 
2019 and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Part I – Release
to Press

DC88

The Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee

Agenda Item:

Date: 18 June 2020
Author: James Chettleburgh 01438 242266
Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257
Contact Officer: James Chettleburgh 01438 242266
Application Nos: 20/00135/FPM

 Location: Car park bounded by Lytton Way, Danesgate and London Road, 
Stevenage

Proposal: New bus interchange including covered bus waiting area, ancillary 
accommodation building which consists of a café retail unit, shop mobility 
store, waiting area and toilet facilities, Lytton Way bus shelters and coach 
stands, associated vehicle hardstanding, public realm improvements, 
associated highway works and external stores on London Road.

Drawing Nos. STV-SGP-AA-00-DR-A-2060 P5; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1000 P7; STV-
SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1601 P6; STV-SGP-AA-00-DR-A-2120 P8; STV-SGP-
AA-R1-DR-A-2021 P2; STV-SGP-AA-R2-DR-A-2020 P7; STV-SGP-AA-
ZZ-DR-A-2800 P7; 500 P03; LA1 P6; 6301 P01; 6302 P01; 6701 P01; 
LONRD-01A; LONRD/02A; STV-SGP-Z0-XX-DR-A-1602; STV-SGP-Z0-
XX-DR-A-1603; STV-SGP-Z0-DR-A-1001 3; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1002 
P3; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1003 P2; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1004 P1; 
STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1005 P1; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1605 P4; STV-
SGP-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-2640 P6; STV-SGP-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-2600 P7; STV-SGP-
Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1606; STV-SGP-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-2740 P6; STV-SGP-Z1-ZZ-DR-
A-2700 P5; STV-WYG-Z0-00-DR-E-960002 P01.

Applicant: Stevenage Borough Council

Date Valid: 6th March 2020

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION

Plan for information purposes only

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



2

1. SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1 The application site is located at the western edge of Stevenage Town Centre and 
comprises a surface car park and vehicular access which is also known as the old 
London Road. The site is bordered to the north by the existing Arts and Leisure 
Building and to the west by the A602 Lytton Way which is a dual carriageway. Along 
the southern boundary is Danesgate which is a spur road off Lytton Way and to the 
east is the Magistrates Court and Registry Office. The site is currently served by a 
vehicle access off Danesgate. 

1.2 In terms of the surrounding area, beyond Lytton Way is Stevenage Train Station and 
associated parking. To the south-west lies Stevenage Police Station and to the south 
and south-east is additional surface parking and the Matalan Store. To the east beyond 
the Magistrates Court and Registry Building are the main Stevenage Borough Council 
Offices, the existing bus station as well as the main town centre. To the north beyond 
the Arts and Leisure building lies Tesco superstore and Skyline development. 

2. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

2.1 There have been numerous permissions granted in the past for advertisements, 
extensions and refurbishment works to the Arts and Leisure building. These are not 
particularly relevant to this planning application.

2.2 Planning application 07/00810/OP sought outline permission for a comprehensive 
redevelopment for a mix of uses to include a full range of retail uses (Class A1, A2, A3, 
A3 and A5), housing (Class C3), hotel (Class C1), leisure (Class D2), offices (Class 
B1), voluntary services (Class D1), magistrates court, replacement bus station, 
together with ancillary and associated developments, pedestrian and cycle circulation 
and open space, car parking, vehicular access, servicing facilities, highway works, 
plant and machinery, landscaping and enabling works. Demolition of existing buildings 
and structures, the closure and alteration of highways and cycleways and the internal 
and external alteration of buildings being retained, engineering works and construction 
of new buildings and structures. This application has not been proceeded with. 

3.  THE CURRENT APPLICATION
3.1 The proposed development seeks planning permission for the creation of a new bus 

interchange. This facility would replace the existing bus station which lies to the east of 
the application site. The bus interchange would comprise the erection of the main 
accommodation building which would consist of a retail unit, shop mobility store, 
waiting area and toilet facilities. The development would also comprise an external 
canopy with glass screen forming part of the main bus apron. The application would 
also comprise the erection two standalone bus shelters positioned adjacent to Lytton 
Way and the proposed at grade crossing to the west of the main bus apron. These 
shelters would serve as either a coach stop (such as for National Express) and/or bus 
stop.

3.2 The development would also comprise new public realm works which would allow the 
development to connect to the main town centre as well as the train station. There 
would also be the creation of a new vehicle access off Lytton Way to serve the bus 
interchange. In addition, the proposal would also include associated highway works on 
Lytton Way in order to create a designated lane into the main bus interchange. The 
highway works would also include an at grade crossing along Lytton Way which would 
be signalised to aid pedestrian movement along with the narrowing of Lytton Way to 2 
lanes, both northbound and southbound. In addition, a bus priority system would also 
be created on Lytton Way in order to improve accessibility to the interchange and the 
flow of buses onto the main highway network. These works will be secured via a 

Page 32



3

Section 278 Agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as the Highways Authority 
under the Highways Act 1980.

3.3 The proposal also incorporates the installation of a storage area under the footbridge 
which runs up to the Arts and Leisure building opposite the ground floor entrance into 
this building. This is to replace the storage being lost which is currently provided within 
shipping containers and these are to be removed as part of the development proposal. 
Further to this, the proposed development comprises engineering works to the 
northern end of London Road near the junction with Swingate. This would incorporate 
the creation of a new turning head with associated retaining wall on the old London 
Road. The engineering works are required in order to facilitate a new vehicle access 
for emergency vehicles such as fire tenders to service the Arts and Leisure building. 
Finally, the proposal also comprises the creation of six designated disabled parking 
bays along London Road which would serve the leisure and theatre building. 

3.4 This application comes before the Planning and Development Committee as the 
application is a Major development and the applicant and landowner is Stevenage 
Borough Council. 

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
4.1 Following notification of the application via letter, the erection of site notices and the 

issuing of a press notice, no comments or representations have been received. 

5. CONSULTATIONS

5.1 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority

5.1.1 The County Council as Highways Authority has undertaken a review of the documents 
and drawings submitted in support of the application. The Highway Authority is content 
to accept that the new position of the bus station may be accommodated on the local 
highway network and will also accrue benefits in terms of accessibility to the station 
and also with respect to the wider development of the town centre. 

5.1.2 The Highways Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of planning permission, 
although recommends the inclusion of a number of conditions and advisory notes. 

5.2 Lead Local Flood Authority

5.2.1 The drainage strategy is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions. 

5.3 Council’s Environmental Health Officer

5.3.1 The findings and proposals arising in the applicant’s air quality assessment are 
acceptable. With regards to contamination, it is recommended a standard condition is 
imposed if any previously unidentified contaminants are found during construction in 
which a remediation strategy would have to be submitted to the Council for its 
approval. 

5.4 Thames Water

5.4.1 The proposed development is within 15 metres of underground waste water assets. 
Therefore, an informative should be added if permission were to be granted. It is also 
expected the developer to demonstrate what measures will be undertaken to minimise 
groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Groundwater discharges typically result 
from construction site dewatering, deep excavations, basement infiltration, borehole 
installation, testing and site remediation. Any discharge made without a permit is 

Page 33



4

deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water 
Industry Act 1991. Should the Local Planning Authority be minded to approve the 
planning application, Thames Water would recommend an informative be attached to 
the planning permission.

5.4.2 With regards to surface water drainage, Thames Water advises that if the developer 
follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water, then no objections 
would be raised. However, where the developer proposes to discharge to a public 
sewer, then approval will be required from Thames Water. 

5.4.3 Separately, it is advised that with regard to the waste water network and sewage 
treatment works infrastructure capacity, there are no objections on the planning 
application. In relation to water supply, this is covered by Affinity Water. 

5.5 Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust

5.5.1 There appears to be little ecological impact and the recommendations in the ecological 
report are acceptable. 

5.6 Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor

5.6.1 Due to involvement at earlier stages with the Council, all concerns previously raised 
have been addressed and as such, the Police Crime Prevention Design Service 
supports the application. However, it is recommended that the Data Cabinet Room is 
fully protected by the buildings electronic intruder detection system. It is also 
recommended that as a minimum security standard, that the building meets Secured 
by Design (Commercial Standards). This will address any potential issues around 
crime, disorder and the fear of crime which may arise. 

5.7 Environment Agency

5.7.1 The previous and proposed site use suggests the potential presence of contamination 
and the site is situated in a vulnerable groundwater area within Source Protection 
Zones 2 and 3. Therefore, it is recommended that the requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance are followed. 
This means that all risks to groundwater and surface waters from contamination need 
to be identified so that appropriate remedial action can be taken. 

5.7.2 The Environment Agency expects reports and Risk Assessments to be prepared in line 
with their Groundwater Protection Guidance. In addition, in order to protect 
groundwater quality from further deterioration:-

 No infiltration based sustainable drainage systems should be constructed on land 
affected by contamination, as contaminants can remobilise and cause groundwater 
pollution;

 Piling, or any other foundation designs using penetrative measures, should not 
cause preferential pathways for contaminants to migrate to groundwater and cause 
pollutions;

 Investigative boreholes are decommissioned to ensure that redundant boreholes 
are safe and secure, and do not cause groundwater pollution or loss of water 
supplies. 

5.8 Council’s Arboricultural Officer

5.8.1 There are no objections to the application on arboricultural grounds. It is noted a 
relatively small number of less significant trees will be removed, however, the trees 
and shrub planting in the landscaping proposal will compensate for this loss. 

Page 34



5

5.9 Hertfordshire County Council Archaeology 

5.9.1 The proposed development is circa 200m to the north of the nearest Area of 
Archaeological Significance, that being the Six Hills Barrows, which are a Scheduled 
Monument, and therefore of national importance. However, of particular relevance to 
the proposed development is the remains of a portable Roman road (subsequently, the 
Medieval Highways: Historic Record no. 10565), which ran beside the barrows and 
passed through the eastern part of the proposed development area.

5.9.2 It is probable that remains of this road, should they survive below ground, will be 
impacted by the proposed development. Associated archaeological features on site 
may also be present. This is because funerary activity close to roads in the Roman 
period was common, and Roman features have been found next to the course of the 
road to the north, within Old Stevenage.

5.9.3 An archaeological desk-based assessment (DBA) was submitted by the applicant to 
judge the potential for unrecorded archaeological remains at the site. The DBA 
identified the site as having a moderate potential for archaeological remains to be 
present. However, this depends on how much truncation of deposits occurred during 
the 20th century development of the site, but, it is likely that, within the car park, the 
impact may have been comparatively slight. Significant archaeological remains have 
been shown to survive beneath large 20th century buildings elsewhere in the county, 
such as at GlaxoSmithKline in Ware, or Birchley Green shopping centre in Hertford.

5.9.4 Archaeological evaluations should therefore take place anywhere that ground impact of 
any depth will occur. It is believed that the position of the development is such that it 
should be regarded as likely to have an impact on heritage assets of archaeological 
interest and it is recommended that conditions should be imposed should planning 
permission be granted. 

5.10 Hertfordshire County Council Minerals and Waste

5.10.1 The Waste Planning Authority is keen to ensure the appropriate management and 
minimisation of construction, demolition and excavation (C, D & E) waste for all 
relevant construction projects. As the Borough Council is aware, the Hertfordshire 
Waste Local Plan is under review. The Capacity Gap Report produced to support the 
Waste Local Plan review, identifies C, D, & E waste to be the most significant capacity 
gap for Hertfordshire. The county does not have the number of facilities it would need 
to treat the excessive volumes of C, D & E waste which arises in Hertfordshire (a large 
proportion is also imported from London) and therefore every effort must be made to 
reuse and recycle as much of this waste as possible.

5.10.2 The Waste Planning Authority would like for a SWMP (or similar) to be prepared for the 
proposed developments either at this stage or as part of a requirement by a pre 
commencement condition. It is recognised that the Construction Management Plan 
submitted with the application does provide some details with regards to waste 
management. It is encouraging to see the commitment to applying the waste hierarchy 
and working towards a 100% landfill diversion rate. Part 4.5 of the document states: 

‘Though SWMP’s are no longer a legislative requirement, we continue to use them to 
help us create resource efficiency action plans for our construction projects.’

5.10.3 It is assumed from the above statement that a SWMP will be prepared for the project. 
The County Council as Waste Planning Authority would be happy to assess any 
SWMP that is submitted as part of this development and provide comment to the 
Borough Council.

Page 35



6

5.11 Stevenage Borough Council Car Parks Manager

5.11.1 The Car Parks P and H are currently used as overflow for the Railway Car Parks. 
However, there is capacity available in St George’s multi-storey car park which is 
sufficient to provide parking for those displaced by the development. 

5.12 Council’s Parks and Amenities Section

5.12.1 At this stage there are minimal details for Stevenage Direct Services (SDS) to be able 
to fully comment on the soft & hard landscaping proposals. SDS will require full details, 
specifications, and plans of the areas that are expected to be maintained and adopted 
by SDS. It is recommended all planting schemes, specifications, and plans are to be 
approved by SDS before commencement of any planting, seeding, turfing etc. and 
shall comply with the relevant British Standards. SDS supports the proposals for high-
quality planting and landscaping.

5.12.2 SDS understand that the developer will be responsible for maintaining the landscaping 
for 12 months before handover to the Council. During this period the developer must 
rectify all issues (e.g. plant establishment, defects etc.). Any issues that have not been 
resolved by the end of this period will extend the handover until resolved and SDS is 
satisfied. All rectifications works shall be undertaken and completed all at cost to the 
applicant. 

5.12.3 The developer is to appoint a representative to oversee, control, and manage the 
delivery and maintenance of the landscaping elements. The representative will be 
proactive in working with the relevant Officers from the Council (including SDS) to pick 
up on issues, defects, corrections throughout the entire delivery of the development. 
This may include regular site visits and recorded meetings. SDS will not adopt the 
maintenance or repairs of any physical drains, pipes, channels, etc. as SDS does not 
have the expertise to undertake such maintenance.  All landscaped/planted areas must 
be designed to be easily accessible for maintenance.

5.12.4 All soft and hard landscaping elements must be designed to provide an attractive 
amenity, whilst being mindful of the increased revenue costs associated with high-
quality maintenance. To assist with any street sweeping activities, all planted borders 
that are directly adjacent to hard surfacing should be designed with this in mind. Any 
furniture, seating, etc. should be flush to the ground of any hard surface so detritus, 
litter, leaves, etc. can be cleared easily.  All planting shall be hardy to typical winters, 
drought-tolerant, and show consideration for year-round interest. Plants should also be 
pollinator friendly, both in terms of floral potential but also potential to support 
overwintering species.

5.12.5 Where applicable, landscaping considerations must take into account the effects of 
building shadowing and sheltering. Proposed planting and grassed landscaping must 
also consider location in respect of glazed windows and doors. Areas of planting must 
not interfere or have the potential to block windows and doors. Grassed areas shall not 
be near low-level glazing due to the risk of material being thrown from machinery. 
Provision should also be made for protecting areas of the landscape that could be 
vulnerable to damage by large turning vehicles (i.e. road verge corners). All proposed 
planting shall be undertaken during the winter months (October to February).

5.12.6 SDS is increasingly mindful of the potential threats posed to the environment from 
imported pests and diseases as well as a result of climate change. The developer must 
show how it plans to manage biosecurity risks. This will include sourcing plant stock 
from local and responsible growers with full tractability. All hard surfaced areas must 
be resilient to mechanical sweeping and the current agreed cleaning agents used 

Page 36



7

within the town. All surfaces must also be resilient to heated chewing gum removal 
systems.

5.12.7 In regards to Litter Bins, these should be as follows:-

 All litter bins shall be of the same design and specification for continuity with the 
rest of the town centre public realm; 

 Bin capacity shall be 90-120 litres;
 Bins shall be of a pleasing design that compliments the town centre design;
 All bins must be highly durable, easy to operate, and deter birds and vermin. 

Consideration should also be given for cigarette disposal.

5.12.8 SDS require the contact details and locations of other local authorities or development 
projects where ‘rain gardens’ have been installed and are already place (ideally local to 
Stevenage). This is so that SDS can have the opportunity to investigate and 
understand more fully the design and what may be expected with the maintenance of 
rain gardens. We will then be in a better position to be able to comment more fully on 
these proposals.  The use of any loose-fill hard aggregate for decorative landscaping 
or mulching will not be acceptable. 

5.12.9 SDS note the proposals for polished concrete benches; however consideration must 
be given to deterring skateboards and/or bikes. As such skate stops or other 
appropriate furniture shall be incorporated. 

5.12.10In regards to road crossing beds, following recent discussions, consideration must be 
given to the safe maintenance of these proposed shrub beds, in particular on the 
roadside. As such, an attractively hard landscaped buffer (resin bonded gravel?) shall 
be incorporated into the design of this bed along the roadside. This is to reduce the 
requirement for our maintenance teams to be on the roadside whilst undertaking works 
to the bed. As already identified, careful thought will need to be given to the proposed 
planting in this area in respect of visibility and maintenance. Protection of the planting 
may also be required here in terms of reducing erosion and damage from pedestrians 
following desire lines to and from the interchange/station/town etc. 

5.12.11The planting within this scheme is of paramount importance for an attractive and 
impressive arrival space. As such the planting must be provided to create an 
immediate impact, which can be achieved through providing large, well-formed plants 
at appropriate spacing.  The Buxus spp. shall be removed from the design and 
replaced with a suitable alternative. From experience, Pachysandra spp. struggles to 
establish within Stevenage. A suitable alternative shall be found. In reference to the 
Tilia spp. (Lime trees) shall not be planted over or near any hard surface or street 
furniture due to the heavy residue deposits. 

5.12.13There is an opportunity to incorporate swathes and clumps of naturalising bulbs within 
the larger open space to the South. Further details of naturalising bulb selections can 
be found here: https://www.rhs.org.uk/advice/profile?pid=150

5.12.14Wildflower meadows – SDS note the proposals for a wetland meadow mix. Whilst SDS 
agree with the incorporation of a meadow, there are concerns around its maintenance 
for a cut and collect regime twice annually, given the difficulties in topography. SDS 
recommend consulting with Emosgate to identify a possible mix that would be suitable 
for the area whilst allowing a ‘cut and drop’ style maintenance regime to be employed 
here. 

5.13 Stevenage Borough Council CCTV

5.13.1 The proposed CCTV system is considered to be acceptable. 

Page 37

https://www.rhs.org.uk/advice/profile?pid=150


8

5.14 UK Power Networks

5.14.1 No comments.

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 

6.1 Background to the development plan

6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the 
decision on the planning application should be in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory 
development plan comprises:

• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007).

6.2 Central Government Advice

6.2.1 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in February 
2019. This largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 version of the 
NPPF albeit with some revisions to policy. The Council are content that the policies in 
the Local Plan are in conformity with the revised NPPF and that the Local Plan should 
be considered up to date for the purpose of determining planning applications. The 
NPPF provides that proposals which accord with an up to date development plan 
should be approved without delay (para.11) and that where a planning application 
conflicts with an up to date development plan, permission should not usually be 
granted (para.12). This indicates the weight which should be given to an up to date 
development plan, reflecting the requirements of section 38(6) of the 2004 Act.  The 
NPPF and the PPG, with which Members are fully familiar, are both material 
considerations to be taken into account in determining this application.

6.3 Planning Practice Guidance

6.3.1 National Design Guide (2019).

6.4 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted 2019)

Policy SP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
Policy SP2: Sustainable Development in Stevenage;
Policy SP4: A vital Town Centre;
Policy SP5: Infrastructure;
Policy SP6: Sustainable Transport;
Policy SP8: Good Design;
Policy SP11: Climate Change, Flooding and Pollution;
Policy SP12: Green infrastructure and the natural environment;
Policy SP13: The Historic Environment;
Policy EC1: Allocated sites for employment development;
Policy TC1: Town Centre;
Policy TC4: Station Gateway Major Opportunity Area
Policy TC5: Central Core Major Opportunity Area;
Policy IT4: Transport Assessments and Travel Plans;
Policy IT5: Parking and Access;
Policy IT6: Sustainable transport;
Policy IT7: New and improved links for pedestrians and cyclists;

Page 38



9

Policy IT8: Public parking provision;
Policy GD1: High Quality Design;
Policy FP1: Climate Change;
Policy FP2: Flood risk in Flood Zone 1;
Policy FP5: Contaminated land;
Policy FP7: Pollution;
Policy NH5: Trees and woodland;
Policy NH9: Areas of Archaeological Significance. 

6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents 

Parking Provision Supplementary Planning Document January 2012.
Stevenage Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document January 2009.

6.6 Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule

6.6.1 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 
Schedule in 2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure 
projects based on the type, location and floorspace of a development.

APPRAISAL 

7.1 The main issues for consideration in the determination of the application are its 
acceptability in land use policy terms, Impact on visual amenity, Impact on amenities, 
archaeology, parking provision, means of access and highway safety, trees and 
landscaping, impact on the environment, development and flood risk and ecology and 
protected species.

7.2 Policy Considerations

7.2.1 Policy SP2 of the Local Plan provides that planning permission will be granted where 
proposals demonstrate, how amongst other matters they will:

 Regenerate areas of the town that are under performing;
 Make good use of land and maximise opportunities for brownfield redevelopment in 

the town;
 Improve quality of life and make sure that residents share in the benefits of 

regeneration;
 Promote journeys by bus;
 Make high quality buildings and spaces that respect and improve their surroundings; 

and
 Support facilities that encourage people to live, work and spend leisure time in 

Stevenage.

7.2.2 Looking at the site itself in terms of its allocation in the Local Plan, this is located in 
Stevenage Town Centre as identified under Policy TC1 in the Stevenage Borough 
Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 2019). More specifically, the site is designated as 
falling within the Station Gateway Major Opportunity Area (MOA) under Policy TC4 and 
Central Core MOA under Policy TC5. Dealing firstly with Policy TC4, part b of this 
policy states that planning permission will be granted for a new bus station and part g 
is permissive if new class A1 and A3 uses are provided. In relation to Policy TC5, 
again, this is permissive of A1 and A3 uses and part i of this policy states that 
applications should address the principle of a replacement bus station closer to the 
train station. Employment Policy EC1/5 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) identifies 
Stevenage Central, in which this application site forms part of, as an area to provide 
10,000m2 of B1(a) Office floorspace. 

Page 39



10

7.2.3 The proposed development is seeking to re-locate the existing bus station onto an 
existing car park which borders Lytton Way, Danesgate and the old London Road. This 
is in order to create a closer and better connection with Stevenage Train Station to 
form a sustainable transport interchange. In addition, the scheme incorporates a new 
pedestrian at level crossing along Lytton Way in order to connect with the train station. 

7.2.4 With regards to sustainability, the development utilises an existing brownfield site and 
is in a sustainable location. In addition, the scheme helps to promote sustainable forms 
of travel with an enhanced connection with Stevenage Train Station. The development 
would also serve Stevenage Town Centre as a whole where the wider community 
would have access to amenities and facilities which make up the town centre. It would 
also help to support the delivery and operation of new office floorspace which is to be 
delivered as part of the wider regeneration of the town centre. In terms of Use Class 
A1 (shop) /Use Class A3 (Café) as per the policies outlined in paragraph 7.2.2, the 
proposed development does include a small unit within the ancillary bus interchange 
building for such purposes. The development also includes a “Shop Mobility” unit within 
the ancillary building as well. These units would help to complement the overall 
operation of the bus interchange.

7.2.5 In summary, the proposed development would create an enhanced public transport 
hub with improved connections to Stevenage Train Station. As such, the proposal 
would help to encourage a modal shift away from the private car. The development 
proposal would also meet the requirements of delivery of a new bus facility as part of 
the wider regeneration programme for Stevenage Town Centre. In addition, the site is 
in a sustainable location and utilises a brownfield site in accordance with the Council’s 
policies and would help to support the delivery of employment floorspace in the town 
centre as well. Therefore, it can be concluded that the overall principle of development 
has been established in this instance in land use policy terms. 

7.3 Impact on Visual Amenity 

7.3.1 In terms of design, Policy SP8 of the Local Plan requires new development to achieve 
the highest standards of design and sustainability. Policy GD1: High quality design 
generally requires all forms of development to meet a high standard of design which 
includes form of built development, elevational treatment and materials along with how 
the development would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between 
buildings, landscape design and relevant aspects of sustainable design. Part ii of 
Policy TC4 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) sets out that planning applications will 
need to address the demolition of the Arts and Leisure Centre. This is in order to 
facilitate better east-west integration and create new development sites in the environs 
of the train station.

7.3.2 The Council’s Design Guide SPD (2009) sets out that a high quality environment is 
essential for providing a good quality of life for residents. A well-designed and 
managed space not only provides a visually attractive environment, but can also help 
to ensure that a place is easy to move around and within, is safe and secure, and is 
useful for all members of the community.

7.3.3 Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 stipulates that 
planning decisions should ensure development functions well and adds to the overall 
quality of the area, not just in the short term but over the lifetime of the development. It 
also sets out that development should be visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, is sympathetic to local 
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape 
setting. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that “permission should be refused for 

Page 40



11

development of poor design that fails to make available opportunities for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions”. 

7.3.4 The National Design Guide (2019) which was published by National Government is a 
material consideration in the determination of planning applications. It sets out that 
Buildings are an important component of places and proposals for built development 
are a focus of the development management system. However, good design involves 
careful attention to other important components of places. These include: 

 the context for places and buildings;
 hard and soft landscape;
 technical infrastructure – transport, utilities, services such as drainage; and
 social infrastructure – social, commercial, leisure uses and activities.

7.3.5 A well-designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 
materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the right choices at 
all levels, including: 

 the layout; 
 the form and scale of buildings;
 their appearance;
 landscape; 
 materials; and
 their detailing. 

7.3.6 The Guide further iterates that all developments are made up of these components put 
together in a particular way.  As such, the choices made in the design process 
contribute towards achieving the ten characteristics and shape the character of a 
place. For reference, these ten characteristics are as follows:-

 Context – enhances the surroundings;
 Identity – attractive and distinctive;
 Built form – a coherent pattern of built form;
 Movement – accessible and easy to move around;
 Nature – enhanced and optimised;
 Public spaces – safe, social and inclusive;
 Uses – mixed and integrated;
 Homes and buildings – functional, healthy and sustainable;
 Resources – efficient and resilient;
 Lifespan – made to last. 

7.3.7 This section of the report will deal with the aforementioned characteristics excluding 
nature and movement. With regards to nature, this will be dealt with in Sections 7.8 
(Trees and Landscaping) and 7.11 (Ecology and Protected Species) of this report. In 
relation to movement, this will be dealt with in Section 7.7 (Means of access and 
highway safety) of the report.

7.3.8 Dealing firstly with the bus interchange building, it would comprise of a retail area, 
customer seating area, supervisor desk, shop mobility store, bin stores, and w.c. 
facilities. The building would measure approximately between 5.53m to 12.95m in 
length and between 12.61m to 25.02m in width. In terms of height, the building would 
have a maximum height of approximately 5.30m. With respect to visual appearance, 
the ancillary building would be constructed from contrasting, high quality and resilient 
materials which would comprise the following:-

 Fibre Cement Equitone Tectiva cladding TE40 Sahara;

Page 41



12

 Equitone Natura cladding N074 grey;
 Polyester Powder Coated (PPC) graphite grey (RAL 7024) curtain walling with 

double glazed units, automated double sliding doors and hinged doors;
 PPC graphite grey (RAL 7024) grey steel louvered doors;
 Barrel vault roof light with polycarbonate gable-end walls;
 PPC aluminium capping running along the top edge of the buildings elevations. 

7.3.9 The building has a broadly triangular footprint with strong angled walls and a flat roof 
and associated parapet wall. It would also have a well-defined entrance feature on the 
north-eastern corner which would be slightly recessed and comprise of a vaulted and 
angled barrel shaped canopy finished in grey with an external supporting column. This 
would form the main pedestrian access into the building arriving from the town centre. 

7.3.10 The external canopy which will sit in conjunction with the ancillary interchange building, 
would comprise of a cantilevered gull-wing style canopy system (fins) which would be 
positioned south of the Arts and Leisure building and to the rear of the ancillary bus 
interchange building. It would measure approximately 72m in width and 14.50m in 
depth, with part of the canopy sitting above the bus interchange building. The canopy 
is designed to create a covered walkway and outdoor seating areas which serve each 
individual bay. The fins would have a height of approximately 6.57m, with the 
supporting steel frame measuring a total of 8.56m. Part of the canopy roof would 
comprise of photovoltaic panels and ETFE (plastic) panels with the centre consisting a 
glazed barrel vault roof light. There would also be a glazed protection screen which is 
approximately 4m in height and would be attached to the canopy and form part of the 
covered seating area. 

7.3.11 To the west of the application site, adjacent to the pedestrian crossing on Lytton Way, 
there would be 2 no. bus shelters with fixed seating. These would measure 
approximately 1.53m in length and span 5.30m. The shelters would comprise of a gull-
wing style roof with an overall height of between approximately 3m to 3.59m, 
supported by steel columns. In terms of construction, the main structure would be 
polyester powder coated (ppc) steel frames finished in grey with toughened glass 
panel inserts. Turning to the proposed external stores, these would be positioned north 
of the bus station, under the ramp which serves the Arts and Leisure Building and train 
station. These stores would measure approximately 2.82m by 2.59m with an overall 
height of approximately 2.86m. The stores would be constructed in a steel framed 
cladding system finished in light grey. They would have a set of metal doors with a 
louvered grill above. 

7.3.12 In addition to the above, the proposal also comprises engineering works to the old 
London Road in order to create a new turning head for emergency vehicles. This area 
is located north of the proposed bus interchange in close proximity to the ramp. This 
would require the creation of a new retaining wall positioned between the tuning head 
and Swingate West car park. The wall would be 780mm in height and 2m in length with 
an associated handrail combined with concrete slabs at the edge of the turning head. 
The existing hardsurfaced, sloped gradient would also be re-engineered to a shallower 
gradient. This is in order to allow fire tenders to be able to safely manoeuvre within the 
turning head. 

7.3.13 A key component of the development proposal is also the creation of a newly designed 
public realm with a shared pedestrian and cycle highway. This would be adjacent to 
the building as well as running along the old London Road up to the Arts and Leisure 
centre and the ramped access to the north. The public realm also runs east to west 
between the new pedestrian crossing and the old London Road. The public realm 
works includes substantive provision of new block paving with the provision of new 
street furniture such as cycle racks, stainless steel balustrading along the edge of the 
bus apron, stainless steel bollards, along with Head of Queue information totems, 

Page 42



13

benches (including Escofet ‘Milenio’ concrete benches around the edges of the 
Swales) and refuse bins. There would also be the creation of large areas of soft 
landscaping which incorporate planted swales and/or mounds, tree planting, amenity 
grass, meadow grass, shrubs, ornamental planting etc.

7.3.14 It is considered that the scale and design of the interchange building is appropriate for 
its town centre location and sits in context and appropriately responds with the built 
form of the Arts and Leisure centre and surrounding buildings. The interchange is 
characterised by active frontages with a strong articulated design with the use of high 
quality materials on the façade. In addition, the main entrance to pedestrians is legible 
and prominent with a strong connection with the old London Road which forms part of 
this key east to west connection with the town centre. 

7.3.15 The use of a dynamic corner on the north-western elevation fronting the public realm is 
very effective and creates an element of variety and interest into the built form of the 
interchange. The overall canopy design also complements the contemporary modern 
architectural composition of the proposed bus interchange building. With regards to the 
proposed bus shelters on Lytton Way, these are of a contemporary modern design and 
would not appear prominent in the street scene being set against the backdrop of the 
existing Arts and Leisure building. The development would also utilise high quality, 
resilient materials which will ensure the development will be made to last. 

7.3.16 With regards to the public realm, this is a welcome enhancement to the visual 
amenities of the area and creates a better defined streetscape. In addition, due to the 
siting and position of the proposed stores, these would not be visually prominent in the 
street scene and would have a high quality finish. In relation to the engineering works, 
these have been designed to have a limited impact on the street scene and would tie in 
with existing works associated with the turning head. 

7.3.17 In terms of the extensive comments raised by the Council’s Parks and Amenities 
Department (Stevenage Direct Services/SDS) on the public realm, these would be 
dealt with in more detail in Section 7.8 Trees and Landscape of this report.  

7.3.18 Given the aforementioned assessment, it is considered that the proposal would deliver 
a high quality bus interchange and would create a landmark feature as viewed from 
Lytton Way. It would appear in keeping with the massing and scale of existing 
development in the area and would help to facilitate the wider regeneration of the town 
centre as it would allow the existing bus station to be utilised in the future re-
development of Stevenage Town Centre. 

7.4 Impact on Amenities

7.4.1 In terms of impact on amenities, due to the siting and position of the proposed 
development, the nearest residential development which would be affected by the 
proposal would be Pinetree Court. This residential development is positioned only 
118m from the application site. Given this, there is the potential for noise during the 
construction and operation phases to impact the residents of this development. 

7.4.2 Dealing firstly with construction noise, if permission were to be granted, a condition can 
be imposed restricting the hours contractors can undertake noisy construction 
activities. This would help to limit the timeframes in which occupiers of Pinetree Court 
would be affected by the proposal. Turning to the operation of the development, whilst 
there is the potential for adverse noise impacts, the site is an existing car park and 
therefore an existing source of noise and Pinetree Court is located on the other side of 
Matalan which is a retail operator. This will form a buffer between the proposed bus 
interchange and the residential development at Pinetree Court. Furthermore, this is 

Page 43



14

also a noise generating use which forms part of the established background noise 
levels of the area.

7.4.3 Further to the above, the residential development lies in close proximity to Danestrete, 
Lytton Way and Six Hills Way where there is already a level of traffic noise generated 
which forms part of the established background noise level. Moreover, being in a town 
centre location, there will also be noise generated from reversing alarms along with 
noise from mechanical plant and equipment from neighbouring properties. In addition 
to this, buses already travel past Pinetree Court in order to access the existing bus 
station located more centrally within the town centre. 

7.4.4 Given the aforementioned, the bus interchange would operate within established 
background noise level and as such, would not likely result in an adverse effect on the 
amenities of the occupiers of Pinetree Court. In terms of the approved residential 
development (Planning Permission Reference:- 14/00559/OPM) at Matalan and the 
potential impact this could have on future occupiers of the development, firstly this 
permission is in outline form. Therefore, details such as siting and position of windows 
and habitable rooms will be addressed at Reserved Matters Stage.  However, having 
regard to the context of the sites, the distance between them and allowing for 
mitigation which can be designed into the details of the Matalan development, officers 
are satisfied that a satisfactory relationship will exist between the two developments. 
Consequently, it is not considered the proposal would prejudice the delivery of the 
residential development at the Matalan site if it was to come forward. 

7.4.5 Taking the above into consideration and the established noise environment which 
already exists, the Council’s Environmental Health Section has not raised any 
concerns in terms of noise when consulted on this particular planning application. In 
addition, noise during the construction phase can be managed via the imposition of 
suitable conditions.

7.5 Archaeology  

7.5.1 The NPPF paragraph 128 states that “In determining applications….Where a site on 
which development is proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage assets 
with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to 
submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field 
evaluation”.

7.5.2 Paragraph 129 notes “Local planning authorities should identify and assess the 
particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal 
(including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of 
the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this 
assessment into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage 
asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any 
aspect of the proposal”.

7.5.3 As part of the application, archaeological reports were submitted relating to the historic 
environment. This included an archaeological desk based assessment (DBA). This 
assessment concluded that the site has high potential for Roman remains, with the 
presence of a possible Roman Road (which relates to the Scheduled Six Hills Round 
Barrows) and the Line of the Old Highway running through the eastern section of the 
site. Following an assessment of the information submitted with the application and 
through consultation with Hertfordshire County Council’s Historic Environment Advisor, 
the details submitted are considered to be acceptable, and there is no objection to the 
grant of planning permission for the proposed development subject to the imposition of 
conditions. 

Page 44



15

7.6 Parking Provision 

7.6.1 Policy IT5 of the Local Plan (2019) states that planning permission will be granted 
where proposals comply with the parking standards set out in the plan. Policy IT8 of 
the same document relates to public parking facilities. This policy sets out that planning 
permission resulting in the loss of existing car or cycle parking provision will be granted 
where:-

i. Existing spaces are replaced within or adjacent to the new development;
ii. Replacement car and cycle parking provision are made within 200 and 80 metres 

walk respectively of the key attractors currently served; or
iii. It can be robustly evidenced that the parking is no longer required. 

7.6.2 The Council’s Parking Standards SPD (2012) sets out the maximum level of parking 
requirements for passenger transport facilities which this proposal would fall under. 
The car parking requirement for this is to be decided in each case on individual merits.

7.6.3 The overall objective of the proposed development and the relocation of the bus station 
is to encourage sustainable modes of transport and to reduce the reliance on private 
car transport throughout the town. There is a small retail/café area included in the 
plans for the convenience of bus service users and whilst a retail use would normally 
generate a parking requirement, this facility is to be used by those who will be waiting 
at the bus interchange. As such, it will not be a destination for car borne travel. The 
bus station is designed to be accessed by pedestrians and cyclists being a bus 
interchange with close links to the train station with links to car parks in the area. 
Moreover, being in a sustainable location (non-residential accessibility zone 1), the 
Council’s Parking Standards SPD does allow for 0 parking for non-residential 
development schemes located within the town centre. Therefore, it is considered 
reasonable to not provide car parking spaces as part of the development proposal in 
this instance.

7.6.4 In relation to the loss of the public car parking facility, a study was undertaken to 
assess the overall need for car parking facilities across the town centre. The existing 
car park currently has 90 car parking spaces. In terms of the overall town centre 
(including Stevenage Leisure Park), there are 4,125 spaces of which 1,208 spaces are 
located in the Leisure Park. However, whilst the parking in the Leisure Park is free and 
there are no time restrictions, users are charged a fine if they leave the site. This is in 
order to prevent the car park being used by rail commuters and/or visitors to the rest of 
the town centre.

7.6.5 Turning to the existing car parking in the town centre, these are either Long Stay or 
Short Stay spaces. In terms of the Long Stay car parking, these are predominantly 
located at the Railway Station and the western part of the town centre. However, St 
George’s Way Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP) is the largest capacity Short Stay car 
park with 900 spaces. The analysis undertaken by the applicant identifies that the 
occupancy of the Long Stay car parks are the highest on Thursday during usual 
working hours when all the car parks are full and this drops to just over half full on 
Saturday. The occupancy of the short stay car parks is the highest on Saturdays. The 
main occupancy of the long stay car parks are by commuters, whilst the short stay car 
parks tend to be used by people shopping in the town or for leisure activities.

7.6.6 The leisure centre car park which is the subject of this application, is full for the longest 
time during the week with a 100% occupancy between 9am to 8pm on Thursday which 
includes commuters during the day and leisure centre users in the evening. This 
means the car park is used by people who work in the town or use the train station 
during the week because it is near the station. On Saturday, there is 100% occupancy 
between 3pm and 9pm and it is predominantly used for retail and leisure purposes. 

Page 45



16

7.6.7 Looking at the wider regeneration of the town centre, the SG1 Planning Application 
(19/00743/FPM), if granted planning permission by the Council, would involve the 
closure of Swingate East (81 parking spaces) and Southgate (211 parking spaces) car 
parks, with Southgate Car Park identified as the site for a Primary School. The Local 
Plan (2019) also identifies Marshgate Car Park (156 spaces) as a Major Opportunity 
Area (Policy TC7) for redevelopment. In addition, the Council granted planning 
permission (14/00559/OPM) for the redevelopment of the Matalan Site which also 
includes Danesgate Car Park. This would result in a further reduction of 178 spaces 
(101 spaces at Matalan and 77 spaces at Danesgate). As such, if all this development 
comes forward, there would be a significant reduction in available parking within the 
town centre. 

7.6.8 Taking into consideration of the above and following an analysis of all the car parks, 
the Car Parking Assessment undertaken by the applicant identifies that as a worst 
case scenario, for both days (Thursdays and Saturday), there is spare capacity in St 
George’s Way MSCP which can accommodate all of the cars from the closed car parks 
(including the Leisure Centre car park). After the proposed transfer, the St George’s 
Way car park will still have almost 100 vacant parking spaces on Thursday and almost 
250 vacant spaces on Saturday. In addition, during the weekday, there is plenty of 
capacity in Westgate and The Forum which both have a similar charging regime to St 
George’s Way. As such, whilst some car parks will be lost, including the one which is 
subject to this application, there is still capacity within the retained car parks to absorb 
the displaced spaces. Turning back to the proposal itself, the Council’s Car Parking 
Manager has confirmed that there is sufficient capacity in the St Georges Way MSCP 
to accommodate any parking which is displaced by the proposed development. 
Therefore, it can be concluded that there would still be sufficient public car parking 
provision to serve the town centre in this instance. 

7.6.9 Dealing now with disabled parking, it is noted there are 14 disabled parking bays which 
are positioned on Old London Road. This parking is generally for persons who require 
easy and safe access into the Arts and Leisure building. However, in order to 
compensate for the loss of disabled parking spaces on this stretch of old London Road, 
there would be the provision of six new spaces at the northern end. However, it is 
appreciated there would be a reduction of 8 disabled spaces. Unfortunately, there is 
not sufficient space within the site boundary to provide any more spaces to serve 
disabled customers of the Arts and Leisure Centre. Whilst this loss is a harm which 
counts against the proposals, the proposed scheme is fundamental in facilitating the 
wider regeneration of Stevenage Town Centre. In addition, it would help to create a 
sustainable transport interchange and it would be more accessible and more attractive 
to users with a disability given there is the provision of a disabled toilet, a Shop Mobility 
unit and shelter from the elements. The development would also encourage a modal 
shift away from the private car and with the facilities being provided, encourage 
persons who are disabled to potentially use the bus. In addition, there are also 
disabled parking facilities across the town centre which will still be available for 
persons who are disabled. As such, the overall benefits of the scheme combined with 
the facilities being provided for person(s) who are disabled, outweigh the loss of some 
of the disabled parking spaces which serve the Arts and Leisure Centre. 

7.7 Means of Access and Highway Safety

7.7.1 Policy IT6 of the Local Plan sets out a number of new and improved sustainable 
transport schemes, including a new town centre bus station located to the west of the 
existing site and in close proximity to the train station. Proposals that facilitate the 
creation of these schemes will be granted planning permission. Policy IT7 seeks to 
introduce new pedestrian and cycle links, with particular emphasis on connections to 
the town centre. 

Page 46



17

7.7.2 In relation to Stevenage’s Mobility Strategy, Part 14 of this strategy states “as part of 
the regeneration of the town centre, it is proposed to close the existing bus station and 
replace it with a new bus interchange at the railway station. It is also proposed to 
significantly improve connections into and through Stevenage, which will enable more 
employees in the town centre and Gunnels Wood Employment Area easily access their 
place of work”. 

7.7.3 The plans and Transport Assessment submitted with the application identify that 
vehicular access to the site would be taken from the existing left-in slip road off the 
A602 Lytton Way which provides access to Danesgate. In terms of egress, the existing 
access road to the east of the Long Stay car park which currently serves the Arts and 
Leisure Centre will be incorporated into the bus station egress. This egress will be off 
Danesgate, which is an unclassified local access road. The space which is presently 
occupied by the eastern access road would be taken up by the new public realm which 
would be incorporated into the wider bus station development. Buses will be expected, 
once egressing the site, to turn right out of the re-configured exit onto Danesgate and 
then via the existing left-out only junction onto Lytton Way and connect with Six Hills 
Way. The only vehicles which will be allowed to enter the site will be buses, coaches 
and maintenance vehicles with all other vehicles banned. In terms of emergency 
access to the Arts and Leisure Centre, this will be relocated from its existing position to 
the north of the site via Swingate. This would involve undertaking of engineering works 
on the old London Road to create a safe turning head for emergency vehicles on 
London Road. 

7.7.4 In addition to the above, whilst there would be bays within the proposed bus apron, 
there would also be additional bays on Lytton Way outside of the Arts and Leisure 
building. In regards to pedestrian and cycle access to the bus interchange would be via 
the old London Road which would connect the site to the wider town centre. This would 
include the provision of extensive public realm works in order to help facilitate 
improved access for pedestrians and cyclists into and out of the development. The 
scheme also incorporates a new at grade Toucan crossing across Lytton Way to 
connect the bus interchange with Stevenage Train Station. In order to deliver the 
crossing, it would require the narrowing of Lytton Way to two lanes at the point of the 
crossing from the existing three lanes plus layby. This will allow pedestrians to safely 
cross the dual carriageway, rather than waiting within a central refuge. However, 
pedestrians can still use the footbridge and route through the Leisure Centre. 

7.7.5 With the pedestrian and cycle improvements described above, there would be good 
quality pedestrian and cycle infrastructure in the vicinity of the bus interchange to 
accommodate the need of both pedestrians and cycles which would  be generated by 
this development. It would also help to encourage people to travel by bus with the 
creation of an integrated crossing with the train station. It also helps to meet one of the 
key objectives of the Stevenage Mobility Strategy set out in the Council’s Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (IDP) (March 2017). This seeks improvements to the walking and cycling 
network in order to create better access such as to the railway station. The proposal 
would also help better connect the train station with the wider cycle and pedestrian 
network which traverses through parts of the town centre as well as the well-defined 
network which connects the town centre to the wider Borough of Stevenage.

7.7.6 The Highways Authority considers the proposed access arrangement serving the 
development would not prejudice highway safety. However, in regards to the additional 
bays on Lytton Way, they recommend that there may be a requirement to provide 
variable message signs on Lytton Way to inform bus drivers about the availability of 
vacant bays within the bus station. In addition, at the detailed design phase, the 
Highways Authority will look at ensuring buses wait safely and not obstruct or interfere 
with the proposed at-grade crossing or new entrance into the main bus station. These 
elements would be considered as part of any Section 278 agreement under the 

Page 47



18

Highways Act 1980 between the applicant and Hertfordshire County Council as 
Highways Authority. In terms of bus egress, the Highways Authorities preference will 
be for all buses to exit via Lytton Way. This is due to potential future changes to the 
public realm on Danestrete and Danesgate which could be prejudiced by routeing of 
buses through an area which is being reconfigured to enhance pedestrian access. For 
reference, these enhancements to the public realm referenced by the Highways 
Authority are detailed in the not yet determined planning application for regeneration of 
Stevenage Town Centre known as SG1 (Planning Reference:- 19/00743/FPM).

7.7.7 With respect to walking and cycle connections, these are fully supported by the 
Highways Authority. However, they recommend further clarification about the through 
links from the bus station to the east and north towards the town centre which will 
come forward under the Town Centre Regeneration Masterplan detailed under the 
planning application referenced in paragraph 7.7.6. This is a matter which is outside 
the scope of this application as it will be a determining factor as part of the assessment 
of the Masterplan in which the Highways Authority are being consulted on.

7.7.8 In relation to the internal layout of the new bus station, there would be ten drive-in / 
reverse out bus bays. These would be situated adjacent to the proposed concourse to 
allow for convenient disembarking by passengers. The proposal also incorporates 
seven layover bays on the opposite side of the apron so that buses can wait safely 
without obstructing other operating services. The Transport Statement includes Swept 
Path Analysis for buses and coaches to demonstrate vehicles can safely manoeuvre 
within the site and exit in a forward gear. The scheme has also been designed with a 
greater capacity than the existing site in order to accommodate demand for some 
increase in bus movements. 

7.7.9 The Transport Assessment also details how existing bus routes will be affected by the 
proposal and how the routes will operate once the facility is in operation. The bus 
station, however, has been designed to make it easier for inbound bus routes from the 
north and north-east which affects approximately 50% of bus arrivals. All outbound 
buses will travel south out of the bus station with the preferred route of using Lytton 
Way in order to reduce vehicle flows through the improved public realm of Danestrete if 
it is implemented by the future regeneration plans for the town centre. The 
implementation of bus priority along Lytton Way would help to encourage bus drivers to 
utilise this route.

7.7.10 For bus routes from the south and south-east, the inbound routes would be longer than 
the existing because they will need to travel northbound along Lytton Way, come 
around the roundabout on the junction with Fairlands Way and then travel southbound 
to the proposed bus station. This would increase the journey by approximately 800m, 
however, the proposed bus priority lanes being introduced would facilitate the passage 
of buses along these routes. The proposal would also provide additional bays on 
Lytton Way. These buses can travel through the bus interchange or continue along 
Lytton Way.

7.7.11 As indicated earlier, a Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted with the 
application. This has provided a trip generation profile for the existing bus station site 
as well as the existing car park which forms part of the development site. The TA also 
details the trip generation profile the development would make and the impact this 
profile could have on the wider highway network. The TA applies the S-Paramics 
micro-simulation base model of Stevenage Town Centre which was developed by 
AECOM in 2015. The base model was updated in 2019 and forecasting working 
completed that detailed the traffic impact associated with the cumulative effect of all 
Local Plan growth, committed development and the regeneration scheme. 

Page 48



19

7.7.12 The modelling undertaken by the consultant considered four core assessments which 
are as follows:-

Core Assessment 1 (CA1)
i. 2019 base matrix; and
ii. Existing bus station.

Core Assessment 2 (CA2)
i. 2021 future year matrix (to include relevant committed developments);
ii. Committed schemes (GSK updated hamburger roundabout scheme and A1(M) 

Smart Motorway); SG1 Phase 1 Proposals (Plots A and K) (Planning 
Reference:- 19/00743/FPM); and

iii. Relocated bus station (Preferred layout plus associated Lytton Way scheme – 
without bus priority lanes)

Core Assessment 3 (CA3)
i. 2021 future year matrix (to include relevant committed developments);
ii. Committed schemes (GSK updated hamburger roundabout scheme and A1(M) 

Smart Motorway); SG1 Phase 1 Proposals (Plots A and K) (Planning 
Reference:- 19/00743/FPM); and

III. Relocated bus station (Preferred layout plus associated Lytton Way Scheme – 
with full length bus priority lanes, including bus gates on Lytton Way north 
bound and south bound at end of bus lane).

Core Assessment 4 (CA4) 
i. 2021 future year matrix (to include relevant committed developments);
ii. Committed schemes (GSK updated hamburger roundabout scheme and A1(M) 

Smart Motorway); SG1 Phase 1 Proposals (Plots A and K) (Planning 
Reference:- 19/00743/FPM); and

iii. Relocated bus station (Preferred layout plus associated Lytton Way scheme – 
with partial length bus priority lanes, including bus gate on Lytton Way north 
boundary of bus lane). 

Within each assessment, three peak periods were assessed, the AM Peak (08:00 – 
09:00), PM Peak (17:00 – 18:00) and Saturday Peak (12:00 – 13:00). The Transport 
Assessment also sets out a number of mitigation measures which are considered as 
part of each core assessment which are as follows:-

 Northbound and southbound bus lanes on Lytton Way and the approaches to the 
roundabout at each end;

 Bus gates at the end of each bus lane controlled by traffic signals to hold general 
traffic and enable buses to ahead and access the correct lane at the roundabouts;

 A new Toucan crossing of Lytton Way to provide an at-grade crossing between the 
bus station and railway station;

 The reduction of Lytton Way from 3 lanes to 2 lanes and widening of some 
footways alongside the road. This is to help reduce vehicle speeds and support 
the reduction in speed limit from 40mph to 30mph;

 Amendments to the junctions of Swingate and Danesgate with Lytton Way;
 Pedestrian improvements between the bus station and the town centre.

The principal element of the mitigation is the implementation of a bus priority scheme 
and an at-grade crossing on Lytton Way.

7.7.13 However, before going into detail on the modelling and the trip generation and 
distribution of the development, it is important to note that the proposal involves the 
loss the Arts and Leisure Car Park. The study of the car park shows that it was fully 
occupied by 90 vehicles between 9am to 4pm on weekdays and it continued to virtually 

Page 49



20

be full until 7pm. As such, when the car park is closed, the trips associated with the car 
park will be removed from this part of the network. The trips would divert to other car 
parks across the town centre or even shift modes i.e. move away from the private car. 
The parking study which was submitted with the application identified, in terms of entry 
and exit movements, 157 vehicles using the car parking during the weekday and 180 
on Saturday. The weekday movements were focussed into the peak hours whilst the 
Saturday movements were spread across the day. 

7.7.14 Looking at bus services, the existing bus station contains eight drive in and drive out 
bays for dropping off and picking up passengers, plus one stop within the terminus that 
is used for dropping off only. There is also an additional layby on Danestrete for 
National Express and other coach services. The station also includes 8 layover bays in 
the centre of the bus turnaround. The existing bus station facilitates 30 bus services 
with a throughput of 60 buses per hour in the AM Peak, PM Peak and on Saturdays. In 
terms of trip distribution, buses approach from either Danesgate or Danestrete, with all 
buses exiting via Danestrete. The number of buses travelling to the existing bus station 
using Danesgate and Danestrete is split equally, around 30 inbound buses per hour. In 
terms of outbound buses, these are all via Danestrete.

7.7.15 In terms of baseline traffic flows, traffic surveys were completed in Stevenage town 
centre in 2015 with the results provided by HCC. The results show that Lytton Way 
carries large volumes of traffic at peak times. In addition, according to Department for 
Transport Road Traffic Statistics in 2018 (no information available for 2019), the annual 
average daily flow along this part of the road is 30624 vehicle movements 
(approximately 27,317 of these movements are by car and taxis). However, the 
Transport Assessment identifies that the flow of traffic on the one-way section of 
Danesgate is low, with a Tuesday to Thursday average of 101 vehicles per hour in the 
AM peak and 108 vehicles per hours in the PM peak. 

7.7.16 In terms of the modelling output for the new bus interchange on the network, the model 
highlights that the network performance along with vehicular and bus journeys across 
the different core assessments outlined in the TA. The modelling does take into 
account the committed highway schemes along the A1(M) (upgrading to a SMART 
motorway) and the GSK roundabout, along with increase in traffic associated with the 
town centre regeneration proposals and background growth over the local plan period. 
The outputs in the model have shown the network performance generally worsens in 
the future, with average vehicle speeds and journey times increasing, particularly in the 
PM peak. This is to be expected due to background traffic growth in the future. The 
new bus station itself is not expected to have a significant impact on network 
performance, but the associated changes to the highway will be more significant, in 
particular the reduction in capacity along Lytton Way caused by the reduction from 
three lanes to two lanes.

7.7.17 The Highways Authority supports this as the long-term aspirations for Lytton Way is to 
be downgraded completely, with no through route for general traffic. They consider a 
phased approach can be agreed upon (or the introduction of full bus lanes) which can 
be secured by way of a condition. Consequently, the Highway Authority advises they 
accept that the proposed changes to the local highway network based on the modelling 
is accepted and can be satisfactorily accommodated. In addition, they consider that the 
overall benefits accrued to sustainable transport over and above general traffic are 
consistent with the principles set out in the County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4. 

7.7.18 In terms of construction, the Highways Authority recommends the inclusion of a 
Construction Traffic Management Plan condition be imposed if permission were to be 
granted. This is to ensure that the development does not prejudice highway and 
pedestrian safety during the construction phase of development. With regards to 
emergency vehicles, it is noted that there has been extensive dialogue between the 

Page 50



21

applicant and Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue regarding relocated access for 
emergency vehicles. They have confirmed that the new access for the Arts and Leisure 
Centre from Swingate/London Road to the north is acceptable. However, there will be 
a requirement to provide a turning head in order to accommodate the fire tender. 
Therefore, the Highways Authority recommends this has to be in place prior to the 
closure of the access road off Danestrete. This requirement can be secured by 
condition.

7.7.19 In summary, the proposed development can be accommodated on the local highway 
network and there are overall benefits which will be accrued in terms of accessibility to 
the railway station and the wider development of the town centre area. Fundamentally, 
the development would not prejudice the safety and operation of the highway network 
and as such, the Highways Authority raises no objection to the development subject to 
the imposition of appropriate conditions.

7.8 Trees and Landscaping 

7.8.1 Policy NH5 of the Local Plan (2019) states that development proposals will be 
expected to protect and retain individual trees within development sites and should 
include new planting where appropriate. Paragraph 175 of the NPPF (2019) states that 
when determining planning applications local planning authorities should apply the 
principle, in respect of veteran and ancient trees, that if a development results in the 
loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats it should be refused unless there are 
wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists.

7.8.2 There are 67 individual trees and three groups of trees either on the site or in the 
immediate surroundings to it. The trees which are mostly affected by the development 
are located around the existing car park and along the eastern edge of the site running 
along the boundary of the magistrates’ court, court car park and the Arts and Leisure 
centre building. The proposal would involve the removal of 9 trees, four of which are of 
moderate quality and the remainder are of low quality. The proposal also seeks the 
removal of one dead tree to the north of the Arts and Leisure building.

7.8.3 However, in order to compensate for the removal of existing trees, as part of the wider 
landscaping strategy, the applicant is proposing to plant 26 trees with a minimum 
height of 4.5m. The applicant is also proposing to introduce additional soft landscaping 
around the bus apron and wider public realm in which will include the provision of 
swales, native and ornamental shrubs, amenity grassland and meadow grassland 
areas. In order to protect the trees during construction, the Assessment recommends 
the use of Root Protection Area barriers in accordance with British Standards. 

7.8.4 Following consultation with the Council’s Arboricultural Manager, he has not raised any 
concerns with regards to the removal of these trees and vegetation. He also advises 
that the proposed landscaping strategy would help to compensate for the trees which 
are to be removed as part of the development.

7.8.5 The Council’s Parks and Amenities Section (Stevenage Direct Services (SDS)), have 
raised a number of points regarding the planting strategy as detailed in the submitted 
landscape plans and the future management of the hard and soft landscaping. Further 
detailed landscaping plans, including planting strategy and overall maintenance of the 
landscaping area, can be secured through the imposition of a condition if permission 
were to be granted. With these conditions in place, from an aesthetical point of view, 
the landscaping would help to enhance the overall visual appearance of the 
development as viewed from the wider public realm. In addition, if planning permission 
were to be granted, it is recommended a condition be imposed requiring the tree 
protection measures are in place before and during the construction phases of 
development.

Page 51



22

7.9 Impact on the Environment

Land contamination

7.9.1 The application site currently comprises the existing tarmacked surface car park 
adjacent to the Arts and Leisure building along with areas of highway verge, public 
footpaths and vegetation strips which include a number of trees. The contamination 
assessment did not identify any contaminants representing any human health or 
controlled water risks. In addition, no ground gas protection is indicated to be required. 
Following consultation with the Council’s Environmental Health Section, they consider 
the findings of the report to be acceptable.

7.9.2 Given the above, if permission were to be granted, it is recommended a condition be 
imposed requiring a remediation strategy be submitted to the Council for its approval in 
the event that previously unidentified contaminants are detected during the 
construction phase of development. With these conditions in place, the health of 
construction works and future users of the bus interchange will not be detrimentally 
affected by potential contaminants on the site. It would also help to protect the wider 
environment. 

Groundwater

7.9.3 The application site is located upon Secondary A aquifer within the superficial 
glaciofluvial sand and gravel deposits and a Principal aquifer within the Chalk bedrock. 
Given this, the Environment Agency recommends that in order to protect groundwater 
quality from further deterioration, the following need to be adhered too:

 No infiltration-based sustainable drainage systems should be constructed on land 
affected by contamination, as contaminants can remobilise and cause groundwater 
pollution;

 Piling, or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods, should not cause 
preferential pathways for contaminants to migrate to groundwater and cause 
pollution; and 

 Decommissioning of investigative boreholes to ensure that redundant boreholes are 
safe and secure, and do not cause groundwater pollution or loss of water supplies, 
in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

7.9.4 The Lead Local Flood Authority as a Statutory Consultee has taken into consideration 
the points raised by the Environment Agency and recommends the developer further 
explores the feasibility of infiltration drainage on this site, in line with the drainage 
discharge hierarchy. However, they do recommend shallow infiltration testing is carried 
out to BRE Digest 365 standards (Design of Soakaways in the UK including 
consideration of potential contaminants). This requirement can be secured by condition 
being imposed on any planning permission issued. With respect to piling and 
decommissioning of boreholes, these requirements can also be secured by way of 
condition. 

Air quality and air pollution

7.9.5 Policy FP7 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) states that all development proposals 
should minimise, and where possible, reduce air, water, light and noise pollution. 
Looking at air quality and air pollution specifically, the development is not located 
within or in close proximity to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). In terms of the 
impact of the development on air quality, the air quality assessment undertaken by the 
applicant’s consultant focuses on both the construction phase and operational phase of 
the development. Dealing with the construction phase, it is noted that there would be 

Page 52



23

activities which will affect local air quality. These include dust emissions and exhaust 
emissions from plant, machinery and construction traffic.

7.9.6 In order to mitigate the construction phase, the applicant would develop and implement 
a stakeholder communication plan that includes community engagement. They would 
also implement a Dust Management Plan (DMP) which will also include the recording 
of any complaints and identify causes, in order to facilitate remedial action. They will 
also look to plan the construction site layout to ensure machinery and dust and dust 
causing activities are located away from receptors as far as possible. In addition, 
during construction, solid barriers or screens would be erected around dusty activities. 
There would also be regular site inspections to monitor compliance of the DMP. 

7.9.7 The applicant would take measures to avoid site runoff of water or mud and to clean 
fencing, barriers and scaffolding using wet methods to reduce dust build up. Materials 
which potentially cause dust are to be removed from site and covered where 
necessary. The applicant would also look to reduce the use of diesel and petrol 
generators and use mains electricity or battery powered equipment where possible. In 
addition, maximum speed limits would be imposed and vehicle engines are to be 
switched off when stationary. They would also look at sustainable travel as well as 
using specialist tools fitted with or in conjunction with suitable dust suppression 
techniques such as water. The applicant would avoid the use of bonfires or burning of 
waste and would use enclosed chutes and conveyors, loading shovels and hoppers. 

7.9.8 Following consultation with the Council’s Environmental Health Section, they do not 
raise any concerns with the proposed mitigation measures to be put in place during 
construction. With regards to air pollution relating to the future operation of the site, it is 
not considered the development would generate unacceptable levels of air pollution as 
the facility will accommodate existing bus traffic which is already travelling to and from 
the existing bus station. In addition, the facilities overall aim is to reduce the need to 
use the private car which in essence would have a positive impact on the wider 
environment. As such, as agreed by the Council’s Environmental Health Section it is 
not considered that the development would have a detrimental impact on air quality.

7.10 Development and Flood Risk

7.10.1 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 within the Environment Agency’s 
flood risk map. Flood Zone 1 is defined as land having less than 1 in 100 annual 
probability of flooding. Therefore, all developments are generally directed to Flood 
Zone 1. Notwithstanding this, the application is classified as a major development, and 
therefore, in line with the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the applicant has provided a Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Strategy.

7.10.2 The sustainable drainage system which would be installed as part of the development 
proposal comprises of a 293.5m3 storage tank for the car park, bus apron and public 
realm. There would also be the provision of swales and filter trenches to capture 
surface water run off which would feed into the proposed drainage network via the 
tank. Following consultation with Hertfordshire County Council as the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA), they have advised that the applicant has provided an appropriate 
sustainable drainage scheme in accordance with industry best practice. The LLFA has 
also recommended that a condition be imposed to require the development to be 
carried out in accordance with the detailed drainage strategy. 

Page 53



24

7.10.3 In addition to the above, a condition would be imposed to require the application to 
provide a more detailed drainage strategy (based on the adopted strategy for the 
whole site) with engineering drawings and sections of the attenuation system as well 
as to provide a detailed management plan. This is to ensure that the development 
does not result in surface water flooding both on and off the site. 

7.11 Ecology and protected species

7.11.1 The application site is identified as brownfield land comprising predominantly of 
hardsurfacing including the Leisure Car Park, footpaths, the old London Road and 
Lytton Way, as well as small areas of amenity grassland and scrub punctuated by 
some trees. The surrounding area is urban in nature comprising of buildings and 
hardsurfacing with interspersed areas of amenity grassland and trees. The applicant 
has undertaken an Ecological Appraisal to assess the potential for the site and 
adjoining habitats to have species that receive legal protection at either UK and/or 
European level.

7.11.2 As set out in the Appraisal, a Phase 1 habitat survey was undertaken on the site to 
record habitat types and dominant vegetation, including invasive species and a 
reconnaissance survey for evidence of protected fauna and flora or habitats capable of 
supporting such species. A desk top study was also undertaken from Hertfordshire 
Biological Records Centre and from the Multi-agency Geographical Information for the 
Countryside (MAGIC). 

7.11.3 The survey identified that the development site is of low ecological value but the taller 
trees, dense scrub and ivy clad trees on site do provide opportunities for common 
nesting birds. The nearest buildings have been identified as having either low or 
negligible bat roost suitability. However, the survey did identify that some of the trees 
have moderate suitability for nesting bats. As such, the appraisal recommends that 
these trees are retained where possible and if they are to be removed, there will be a 
requirement to undertake two dusk/dawn bat surveys. The appraisal also recommends 
that directional lighting is used to prevent impact on bats. Where trees are to be 
removed, these should be replaced with native species elsewhere on or adjacent to the 
site in order to maintain opportunities for nesting birds. In addition, vegetation removal 
should only take place outside of the nesting season. Finally, the appraisal 
recommends the installation of bird and bat boxes. 

7.11.4 Following consultation with Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust, they consider there is 
little ecological impact and the recommendations set out in the report are deemed to 
be acceptable. As such, it is recommended that these recommendations are imposed 
as conditions if permission were to be granted by the Council.

7.12 Other matters

Sustainable construction and climate change

7.12.1 Policy FP1 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) stipulates that development that planning 
permission will be granted for development that can incorporate measures to address 
adaptation to climate change. New developments will be encouraged to include 
measures such as:

 Ways to ensure development is resilient to likely variations in temperature;
 Reducing water consumption to no more than 110 litres per person per day, 

including external water use;
 Improving energy performance of buildings;
 Reducing energy consumption through efficiency measures;
 Using or producing renewable or low carbon energy from a local source; and

Page 54



25

 Contributing towards reducing flood risk through the use of SuDS or other 
appropriate measures.

7.12.2 The applicant has set out in the application that the bus interchange has been 
designed to adapt to future needs and users such as a future shift to electric vehicles. 
The development could accommodate ducting to provide localised charging points at 
each stand if required in the future. With regards to the building itself, it has been 
designed with openable windows to allow for free cooling air in the summer months to 
reduce the need for air conditioning units within the building. In addition, LED lights 
with all areas (building, canopy and bus apron) would be installed with daylight saving 
features to reduce energy requirements. Moreover, there would be photo-voltaic 
panels on the south facing canopy in order to generate electricity.

7.12.3 In relation to the construction of the development, where possible, local materials and 
supply chains will be used. The applicant sets out that the design team will engage 
with the building supply chain to carefully consider panel sizes to minimise wastage 
during construction. They would also introduce a Construction Methodology which 
looks at reducing noise, air quality, water, ground and light impacts on the surrounding 
area. This would also include restriction of working hours to avoid disturbance, dust 
suppression, screening and selection of appropriate plant and equipment. They would 
also look to manage and reduce waste material during construction in order to limit 
material export to landfill. Where possible, this would be recycled and diverted away 
from landfill. However, to ensure this occurs and to demonstrate in detail how they 
intend to achieve this, a condition could be imposed requiring the applicant to submit a 
Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP).

7.12.4 The development, through the creation of a bus interchange, seeks to encourage town 
centre users and commuters to shift mode from private car to public transport. By 
relocating the bus interchange closer to the railway station, users would be 
encouraged to modal shift and, through the provision of an enhanced waiting area and 
ancillary accommodation, modal shift will be further encouraged. 

7.12.5 Given the above, and subject to condition, it is considered that the development has 
been designed in order to be adaptable to climate change through the use of 
sustainable technologies, construction methodology and through the encouragement of 
a modal shift away from the private car.

Crime Prevention

7.12.6 In terms of crime prevention, the applicant has provided details of CCTV coverage 
which would serve the bus interchange. In addition, the development has been 
designed in a way to reduce crime. Given this, the Police Crime Prevention Design 
Service is in support of the application. However, they recommend that the data 
cabinet room be fully protected by the building’s electronic intruder detection system. 
They also recommend the scheme achieves the police minimum security standards 
that is Secured by Design (Commercial). It is considered that these aspects can be 
dealt with via an informative to any approval issued by the Council.

7.12.7 In relation to CCTV provision, the Council’s CCTV Section has confirmed that the 
overall coverage and location of the cameras identified in the application submission 
are deemed to be acceptable. A condition could be imposed requiring these cameras 
to be installed in accordance with the details provided.

Community Infrastructure Levy

7.12.8 The CIL Charging Schedule specifies a payment for new floorspace in line with the 
following rates (plus appropriate indexation):

Page 55



26

Development Type CIL Rate (£ per square meter)
Zone 1: Stevenage 
Central, Stevenage 

West Urban Extension 
and North of Stevenage 

Extension

Zone 2: Everywhere else

Residential
Market housing £40/m2 £100/m2

Sheltered 
housing

£100/m2

Extra care 
housing

£40/m2

Retail development £60/m2

All other development £0/m2

7.12.9 CIL is a non-negotiable charge. The exact charge will be determined by the Council’s 
CIL officer after an application has been granted in accordance with the CIL Charging 
Schedule and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
Opportunities for relief or exemption from the CIL charge exist and will be taken into 
account in the calculation of the final CIL charge.

7.12.10CIL replaces the need for S106 agreements to specify financial and/or land 
contributions for non-site-specific infrastructure projects. This allows infrastructure to 
be planned on a borough-wide scale rather than on a site-by-site basis as mitigation 
against the impacts of individual proposals. A CIL Form 1: Additional Information has 
been submitted along with the application. Following an assessment of the proposed 
development, whilst there is 93 sq.m retail floorspace within the bus interchange 
building, it is not liable to CIL. This is because under Regulation 42 of CIL, liability does 
not arise in respect of a chargeable development if the gross internal area (GIA) of a 
new build is less than 100 sq.m. In terms of the bus interchange building (excluding the 
retail element), this is also not liable for CIL. 

Equalities Impact

7.12.11 Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states:-

(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to: 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

7.12.13Officers have taken this into account in the assessment of this application and the 
Committee must be mindful of this duty inter alia when determining all applications. 
The consultation process has served to notify all relevant adjoining parties likely to be 
impacted by the development. However, additional regard has been given to any 
potential impact upon the protected characteristics outlined in the Equalities Act 2010 
Section 149 and the provisions contained therein. It is considered that due regard has 
been given to the impact of the scheme on all groups with the protected characteristics 
schedule. 

Page 56



27

7.12.14It is noted that the proposed development does result in the loss of disabled parking 
which currently serves the Arts and Leisure Building. However, the scheme does seek 
to provide an element of replacement disabled parking in close proximity to this 
building. However, as mentioned in paragraph 7.6.9 of this report, this is a reduced 
level of disabled parking being provided. However, whilst it is fully appreciated 
customers of the Arts and Leisure Centre will have to travel further, there are disabled 
parking bays across the town centre which could be used for persons visiting the 
building. In addition, due to the proximity of the bus interchange to the Arts and Leisure 
Centre, persons with disabilities could also travel by bus where there would be a short 
distance to the building’s access on the old London Road.

7.2.15 Furthermore, the development would be beneficial to bus users, including those who 
are disabled as the development would include a “Shop Mobility” unit which would 
support people who are disabled. This would allow them to collect a mobility scooter in 
order safely travel from the bus interchange into the town centre and the wider area. 
The development would also comprise suitable WCs for all persons, including a baby 
change facility and disabled WC. Consequently, the development has been designed 
in order to be beneficial to all people who use the bus interchange and eliminates any 
discrimination towards them.

8 CONCLUSIONS

8.1 In principle, the proposed bus interchange has been established as being acceptable 
as it would create an enhanced public transport hub with improved connections to 
Stevenage Train Station. The development would also be of a high quality 
contemporary design and deemed to be a landmark development. It would not have, 
subject to appropriate conditions, a detrimental impact on the amenities of nearby 
residential properties. Furthermore, through the imposition of conditions, the 
development scheme would not have a detrimental impact on items of archaeological 
significance and would accord with the Council’s Parking Standards. Moreover, the 
proposal would not, subject to conditions, detrimentally impact upon the safety and 
operation of the highway network.

8.2 In addition to the above, the development, whilst resulting in the loss of some 
established trees on-site, seeks to deliver a high quality landscaping strategy which 
would compensate for the loss of these trees as well as create an enhanced urban 
environment and public realm. The development would not have a detrimental impact 
on the environment, would have an acceptable drainage strategy and through 
enhancement measures which can be secured by condition, would have a limited 
impact on local wildlife and biodiversity.

8.3 Given the above, it is considered that the proposed development would accord with the 
policies contained in the adopted Local Plan (2019), the Council’s Design Guide SPD 
(2009), the Council’s Parking Standards SPD (2012), the NPPF (2019) and NPPG 
(2014). 

9 RECOMMENDATIONS  

9.1 That this application be Granted Planning Permission subject to the following 
conditions:-

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

TV-SGP-AA-00-DR-A-2060 P5; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1000 P7; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-
DR-A-1601 P6; STV-SGP-AA-00-DR-A-2120 P8; STV-SGP-AA-R1-DR-A-2021 P2; 
STV-SGP-AA-R2-DR-A-2020 P7; STV-SGP-AA-ZZ-DR-A-2800 P7; 500 P03; LA1 P6; 

Page 57



28

6301 P01; 6302 P01; 6701 P01; LONRD-01A; LONRD/02A; STV-SGP-Z0-XX-DR-A-
1602; STV-SGP-Z0-XX-DR-A-1603; STV-SGP-Z0-DR-A-1001 3; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-
A-1002 P3; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1003 P2; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1004 P1; STV-
SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1005 P1; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1605 P4; STV-SGP-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-
2640 P6; STV-SGP-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-2600 P7; STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1606; STV-SGP-
Z1-ZZ-DR-A-2740 P6; STV-SGP-Z1-ZZ-DR-A-2700 P5; STV-WYG-Z0-00-DR-E-
960002 P01.

REASON:-  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.
REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004).

3 Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, samples of the materials to 
be used in the construction of the hardsurfacing areas, including roads, footpaths and 
bus apron, hereby permitted shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The external surfaces of the development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. Furthermore, all hard surfacing comprised 
in the details for the public realm works shall be carried out within three months of the 
first occupation of the building(s) or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the sooner.
REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance and to protect 
the visual amenities of the area. 

4 The external surfaces of the building, canopy and bus shelters hereby permitted shall 
be constructed in accordance with the details specified in the application submission.
REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance and to protect 
the visual amenities of the area. 

5 Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a detailed landscaping 
scheme (including street furniture) and management plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved landscaping 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details within three 
months of the first occupation of the building(s) or the completion of the development, 
whichever is the sooner. The approved scheme will thereafter be managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.
REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance and to protect 
the visual amenities of the area. 

6 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 
be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the first occupation of 
the building(s) or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner.
REASON:- To ensure the proper completion of the soft landscaping in the interests of 
visual amenity.

7 Any trees or plants comprised within the scheme of landscaping, which within a period 
of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
REASON:- To ensure the maintenance of the approved landscaping scheme in the 
interests of visual amenity.

Page 58



29

8 No development shall commence until a revised Construction Management Traffic 
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter, the construction of the development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved Plan. The Construction Traffic Management Plan shall address the 
following:-

(i) Phasing of the development of the site, including all highway works

(ii) Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;

(iii) Traffic and pedestrian management requirements;

(iv) Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking);

(v) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;

(vi) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;

(vii)  Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off times;

(viii) Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction 
activities;

(ix) Hoarding, fencing, gates and any necessary footway closures.
REASON:- To minimise the impact of construction vehicles and to maintain the 
amenity of the local area. 

9 No drainage system relying on infiltration shall be constructed without the prior written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority. This drainage system shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or 
the water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved 
verification plan have been met and that remediation of the site is complete.

10 No piling using penetrative methods shall take place other than in accordance with a 
piling scheme which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The piling scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
REASON:- To ensure that the proposed office building does not harm ground water 
resources. Some piling techniques can cause preferential pathways for contaminants 
to migrate to groundwater and cause pollution. A piling risk assessment and 
appropriate mitigation measures should be submitted with consideration of the EA 
guidance. 

11 A scheme for managing any borehole installed for the investigation of soils, 
groundwater or geotechnical purposes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The scheme shall provide details of how redundant 
boreholes are to be decommissioned and how any boreholes that need to be retained, 
post-development, for monitoring purposes will be secured, protected and inspected. 
The scheme as approved shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the permitted 
development.
REASON:- To ensure that redundant boreholes are safe and secure and does not 
cause pollution or loss of water supplies.

Page 59



30

12 The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, produced by WYG 
Engineering, Job No. A114385-1, dated 14 April 2020:

1. Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the critical storm events so that it 
will not exceed the surface water run-off rate of 6 l/s up to and including the 1 in 
100 year event plus 40% of climate change event. 

2. The surface water run-off from the site will discharge into the existing Thames 
Water sewer.

3. Providing storage to ensure no increase in surface water run-off volumes for all 
rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event 
providing a minimum of 294m3 (or such storage volume agreed with the LLFA) of 
total storage volume in SuDS features, permeable paves areas and attenuation 
tank. 

The drainage scheme shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently 
in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or 
within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
REASON:-  To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal of and storage of 
surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants.

13 No development shall place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site 
based on the principles as set out in condition 12, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is 
occupied. The surface water drainage scheme shall include

1. Shallow infiltration testing to be carried out to BRE Digest 365 standards to 
determine feasibility of discharging via infiltration in accordance with the discharge 
hierarchy.

2. Confirmation of Thames Water agreement that they have capacity in their network 
to accept the proposed flows and volumes from the development. 

3. A final detailed drainage plan including the location and provided storage volumes 
of all SuDS features, pipe runs, invert levels, flow control structure and discharge 
points. If areas are to be designated for informal flooding, these should also be 
shown on a detailed site plan with its volume and depth. 

4. Detailed, updated post development calculations/modelling in relation to surface 
water for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate 
change event. This should include a total discharge rate of 6 l/s. Appropriate half 
drain down times for all infiltration features and the attenuation tank should be 
identified. 

5. Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including cross 
section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features 
including any connecting pipe runs. This should include details regarding the 
connection into the existing surface water sewer. 

6. Final exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater than the 1 in 100 
year including climate change allowance identified on the drawing. 

7. Final detailed management plan to secure the operation of the scheme throughout 
its life.

Page 60



31

REASON:- To prevent the increase risk of flooding both on and off site. 

14 Prior to the commencement of development the scheme for the protection of the 
existing trees (other than those the removal of which have been approved as part of 
this permission) shall be implemented in accordance with the details specified in the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Prepared by WYG, document reference:- A114385 
revision P4, dated 09/04/2020) and shall be retained during the construction phase of 
the development. Within the fenced off areas, there shall be no alteration to the ground 
levels and they shall be kept clear of vehicles, materials, surplus soils, temporary 
buildings and machinery.
REASON:- To prevent any trees to be retained are damaged, destroyed or uprooted 
during the construction phase of development. 

15 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a strategy for the siting 
and maintenance of permanent nesting and roosting boxes within the façade and roof 
ledges of built structure and/or trees shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Nesting and roosting boxes shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved strategy prior to occupation of the bus interchange 
building. 
REASON:- To ensure that the development contributes to improving the ecology and 
biodiversity of the area

16 All areas of hedges, scrub or similar vegetation where birds may nest which are to be 
removed as part of the development within each phase(s), are to be cleared outside 
the bird-nesting season (March - August inclusive) or if clearance during the bird-
nesting season cannot reasonably be avoided, a suitably qualified ecologist will check 
the areas to be removed immediately prior to clearance and advise whether nesting 
birds are present. If active nests are recorded, no vegetation clearance or other works 
that may disturb active nests shall proceed until all young have fledged the nest.
REASON:- Nesting birds are protected from disturbance under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (As amended). 

17 No demolition, construction or maintenance activities audible at the boundary and no 
deliveries of construction and demolition materials shall be undertaken outside the 
hours 07:30 hours to 18:30 hours Mondays to Fridays, 08:30 hours to 13.00 hours on 
Saturdays and shall not operate on a Sunday or Bank Holiday.
REASON:- To ensure the demolition of the existing buildings and the construction and 
maintenance of the development does not prejudice the amenities of occupiers of 
nearby premises due to noise pollution. 

18 If during construction of the development hereby permitted contamination that has not 
been previously identified has been found to be present in a particular area of the 
development, then no further development in that phase (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted a remediation strategy specifically for the previously unidentified 
contamination to the Local Planning Authority detailing how it shall be dealt with and 
obtained written approved from the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy 
shall be implemented as approved. 
REASON:- To safeguard human health and ground water.

19 Prior to the first occupation and/or use of the development hereby permitted a scheme 
for the parking of cycles including details of the design, level and siting of the proposed 
parking shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the development is first 
occupied or brought into use and thereafter retained for that purpose. 

Page 61



32

REASON:- To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking that meets the needs of 
the proposed development and in the interests of encouraging the use of sustainable 
modes of transport. 

20 No demolition/development shall take place/commence until an Archaeological 
Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority in writing. The scheme shall include an assessment of archaeological 
significance and research questions; and:

1. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording’
2. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording as 

suggested by the evaluation;
3. The programme for post investigation assessment;
4. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording;
5. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and 

records of the site investigation;
6. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the 

site investigation;
7. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the 

works set out within the Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation.
REASON:- To ensure the preservation of potential remains of the site following 
archaeological investigation.

21 The demolition/development shall take place/commence in accordance with the 
programme or archaeological works set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation 
approved under condition 20
REASON:- To ensure the preservation of potential remains of the site following 
archaeological investigation.

22 The development shall not be occupied/used until the site investigation and post 
investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set 
out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition 20 and the 
provision made for analysis and publication where appropriate.
REASON:- To ensure the preservation of potential remains of the site following 
archaeological investigation.

23 The energy efficiency and sustainability measures as detailed in the Design and 
Access Statement 18-014- Stevenage Bus Interchange Date 06 February 2020 Rev: 
P3 shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the first 
occupation of development. These measures shall thereafter be maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s specifications and permanently retained 
accordingly.
REASON:- To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change. 

24 Prior to the use of the development hereby permitted, the vehicular access(es) shall be 
provided and thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan drawing 
number A114385-1_35_12_801 P01 Stage 3 VISIBILITY SPLAYS. Arrangement shall 
be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so 
that it does not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.
REASON:- To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of 
extraneous material or surface water from or onto the highway carriageway.

25 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted visibility splays shall 
be provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved plan number 
A114385-1_1_35_12_801 P01 Stage 3 VISIBILITY SPLAYS. The splay shall 
thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction between 600mm and 
2m above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.

Page 62



33

REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests 
of highway safety. 

26 Prior to the first occupation/use of the development, a Car Parking Management Plan 
relating to public car parking (displaced by the proposed bus station), shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. It shall include 
the following:-

i. Details of car parking allocation and distribution;
ii. Operational details, and integration with other Stevenage Borough Council 

managed car parks within the town centre area;
iii. Monitoring required of the Car Park Management Plan shall be fully 

implemented before the development is first occupied or brought into use, in 
accordance with a timeframe agreed by the Local Planning Authority, and 
thereafter retained for this purpose.

REASON:- In the interests of highway safety and to ensure sufficient available off-
street car parking. 

27 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted vehicular and 
pedestrian (and cyclist) access to and egress from the adjoining highway shall be 
limited to the access(es) shown on drawing number STV-SGP-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-1000-P6 
PROPOSED SITE PLAN only. Any other access(es) or egresses shall be permanently 
closed, and the footway and highway verge shall be reinstated in accordance with a 
detailed scheme to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, concurrently 
with the bringing into use of the new access.
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety and amenity. 

28 Prior to the commencement of development, plans should be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority illustrating the proposed 
new highway boundary(ies) and/or land for dedication which shall be marked out on 
site prior to commencement of construction of any part of the development fronting the 
highway.
REASON:- To prevent unauthorised structures being erected within the highway 
boundary.

29 No development shall commence until such time as a Stopping Up Order to remove all 
highway rights over the land which is designated as public highway within the 
application boundary has been granted and all highway rights over the aforementioned 
land have been successfully removed.
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development. 

30 Prior to first use of the bus station, a bus priority scheme on Lytton Way shall be 
implemented to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority, in consultations with 
the Highways Authority and in accordance with the scheme as illustrated on drawing 
number TS001-Part 1 Rev C and TS001-Part 2 Rev C. 
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety. 

31 Prior to the commencement of development, the scheme as illustrated on drawing 
number LONRD/03A to introduce parking restrictions and a turning head on London 
Road shall be implemented and retained thereafter available for that specific use. 
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety. 

32 Prior to first use of the bus station, the CCTV cameras as detailed in drawing number 
STV-WYG-Z0-00-DR-E-960002 P01 shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Page 63



34

approved details. The CCTV system shall thereafter be permanently maintained and 
retained accordingly.
REASON:- In order to design out crime and to protect the public from crime. 

33 Within one month of the commencement of works a Site Waste Management Plan 
(SWMP) addendum shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, detailing actual waste arising’s and how the waste is managed (i.e. 
re-used, recycled or sent off site for treatment or disposal) and where it is sent to. 
Further updates should be provided throughout the life of the development at an 
interim of two months or sooner should the level of waste be considered significant by 
the developer.
REASON:- In order to reduce the level of waste generated during the demolition and 
construction phases of development and to recycle all waste materials where possible.

Pro-active statement

Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 
through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during the 
determination process which lead to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore 
acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(paragraphs 186 and 187) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

INFORMATIVES

Hertfordshire Highways

AN1) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated 
with the construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which is 
not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If 
this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before 
construction works commence. Further information is available via the website:
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx

AN2) Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways 
Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the 
public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the 
applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements 
before construction works commence. Further information is available via the website:

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx

AN3) Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit 
mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving 
the site during construction of the development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or 
deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available via the 
website:
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx

Page 64

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


35

AN4) Construction standards for works within the highway: The applicant is advised that in 
order to comply with this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter 
into an agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 
of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access and associated 
road improvements. The construction of such works must be undertaken to the satisfaction 
and specification of the Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in 
the public highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to apply to the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements. Further information is available via the 
website:
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx

Thames Water

There are also public sewers crossing or close to the development, therefore, in order to 
protect the public sewers and to ensure Thames Water can gain access for future repair and 
maintenance, approval should be sought from Thames Water where the erection of a building 
would be over the line of, or would come within 3m of a public sewer. 

A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for discharging 
ground water into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and 
may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We expect the 
developer to demonstrate what measures they will undertake to minimise groundwater 
discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk 
Management Team by telephoning 0203 577 9483 or by emailing 
wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk . Application forms should be completed online via 
www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality. 

Environment Agency

The developer should follow the risk management framework provided in CLR11, Model 
Procedures of Land Contamination, when dealing with land affected by contamination. The 
applicant should refer to the following sources of information and advice in dealing with land 
affected by contamination, especially with respect to protection of the groundwater beneath 
the site:

 Gov.UK – The Environment Agency’s approach to Groundwater protection (2017), 
Technical Guidance Paper, including CLR 11 and GPLC and use MCERTS accredited 
methods for testing soils at the site;

 NPPF – Land affected by contamination;
 BS5930:2015 Code of practice for site investigations;
 BS10175:2011 A2:2017 Code of practice for investigation of potentially contaminated 

sites;
 BS ISO 5667-22:2010 Water quality, sampling, Guidance on the design and installation of 

groundwater monitoring points;
 BS ISO 5667-11:2009 Water quality, sampling, Guidance on sampling of groundwater’s 

(A minimum of 3 groundwater monitoring boreholes are required to establish the 
groundwater levels, flow patterns and groundwater quality, more monitoring locations may 
be required to establish the conceptual model).

Page 65

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-anddeveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
http://www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality


36

Community Infrastructure Levy 

Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 
Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing CIL on 01 April 2020. 
This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact the CIL Team 
for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even if you are granted an 
exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a requirement under Regulation 67 of 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 
(Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by Stevenage 
Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will mean you risk losing the right 
to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be imposed. NB. please note that a 
Commencement Notice is not required for residential extensions if relief has been granted. 
Stevenage’s adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found on the 
Council’s webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the Council’s CIL Team at 
CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk. 

13 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 
number relating to this item.

 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

adopted January 2012 and Stevenage Design Guide adopted October 2009.

3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 adopted 2019.

4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2019.

5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 
referred to in this report. 

6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 
February 2019 and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 

Page 66

http://www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL
mailto:CIL@stevenage.gov.uk


DC36

PART 1
                      Release to Press

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee

Agenda Item:

Date:

IMPORTANT  INFORMATION - DELEGATED DECISIONS
Author – Technical Support 01438 242838

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257

Contact Officer – Dave Rusling 01438 242270

The Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation has issued decisions in respect of the 
following applications in accordance with his delegated authority:-

1. Application No : 20/00163/TPTPO

Date Received : 17.03.20

Location : 59 Sparrow Drive Stevenage Herts SG2 9FB

Proposal : Pollard or reduction of crown by 20% of 3no. Ash trees (T1, T2 
and T3) protected by Tree Preservation Order 38

Date of Decision : 12.05.20

Decision : CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER

2. Application No : 20/00168/FPH

Date Received : 19.03.20

Location : 60 Lime Close Stevenage Herts SG2 9QB

Proposal : Single storey rear extension

Date of Decision : 13.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



DC36

3. Application No : 20/00170/FP

Date Received : 23.03.20

Location : Michael Faraday House Six Hills Way Stevenage Herts

Proposal : Construction of new roof above existing atrium area to create 
additional office floorspace; replacement windows, doors and 
screens; construction of new external plant enclosure, and; 
installation of new external lighting.

Date of Decision : 14.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

4. Application No : 20/00193/FP

Date Received : 07.04.20

Location : 1-43 Shaftesbury Court  Buckthorn Avenue Stevenage Herts

Proposal : Replacement balconies, rendering of building exterior and roof 
alterations

Date of Decision : 02.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

5. Application No : 20/00224/AD

Date Received : 28.04.20

Location : McDonalds 14 Stevenage Leisure Park Kings Way Stevenage

Proposal : Installation of 3no new digital freestanding signs and 1 No 15" 
Digital booth screen.

Date of Decision : 08.06.20

Decision : Advertisement Consent is GRANTED

Page 68



DC36

6. Application No : 20/00225/HPA

Date Received : 28.04.20

Location : 42 Rowland Road Stevenage Herts SG1 1TF

Proposal : Single storey rear extension which will extend beyond the rear 
wall of the original house by 3.70m, for which the maximum 
height will be 3.49m and the height of the eaves will be 2.88m

Date of Decision : 02.06.20

Decision : Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED

7. Application No : 20/00171/CLPD

Date Received : 23.03.20

Location : 9 Flinders Close Stevenage Herts SG2 0NE

Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for a single story rear extension

Date of Decision : 13.05.20

Decision : Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED

Page 69



DC36

8. Application No : 20/00175/FPH

Date Received : 26.03.20

Location : 86 Marlborough Road Stevenage Herts SG2 9HL

Proposal : Construction of a garage to the front of the property

Date of Decision : 21.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is REFUSED

For the following reason(s);

The proposed development, by reason of its overall size, scale, 
and design would result in an incongruous form of development 
which would be detrimental to the visual amenities of this part of 
Marlborough Road.  It would, by virtue of it's siting at the front of 
the property, result in a form of development which would be 
unduly prominent when viewed in the street scene to the 
detriment of the character and appearance of the area.   The 
development is therefore contrary to Policies GD1 and SP8 of 
the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2031 (2019), the 
Council's Design Guide SPD (2009), National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019) and the Planning Practice Guidance (2014)

The proposed garage by virtue of its substandard size would 
result in vehicles parking on the hardstand to the front of the 
new garage, which by virtue of its substandard depth would 
result in vehicles parking indiscriminately and overhanging the 
adjoining footpath/highway. The proposal would, therefore, 
result in conditions prejudicial to the safe movement of 
pedestrians and road users contrary to the advice contained in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Roads in 
Hertfordshire, A Design for New Developments and Roads in 
Hertfordshire: Highway Design Guide 3rd Edition, the Council's 
Car Parking Standards SPD (2012), the Department for 
Transport (Manual for Streets) (2007) as well as being contrary 
to Policy IT5 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2031 
(2019) and the National Planning Practice Guidance.

9. Application No : 20/00181/FPH

Date Received : 31.03.20

Location : 7 Cromwell Road Stevenage Herts SG2 9HT

Proposal : Garage conversion including raising roof level and insertion of 
roof lantern, new solid roof to conservatory including new roof 
lantern

Date of Decision : 22.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 70



DC36

10. Application No : 20/00183/FPH

Date Received : 31.03.20

Location : 24 Badminton Close Stevenage Herts SG2 8SR

Proposal : Proposed ground floor rear extension

Date of Decision : 18.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

11. Application No : 20/00184/FPH

Date Received : 31.03.20

Location : 22 Balmoral Close Stevenage Herts SG2 8UA

Proposal : Single storey side and rear extension and front porch

Date of Decision : 18.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

12. Application No : 20/00187/FPH

Date Received : 01.04.20

Location : 375 Broadwater Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 8HA

Proposal : Proposed two storey rear extension.

Date of Decision : 29.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

13. Application No : 20/00208/FPH

Date Received : 18.04.20

Location : 113 Hertford Road Stevenage Herts SG2 8SH

Proposal : First floor side and single storey rear extensions

Date of Decision : 29.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 71



DC36

14. Application No : 20/00213/FP

Date Received : 22.04.20

Location : 22 Longfields Stevenage Herts SG2 8QD

Proposal : Change of use from public amenity land to residential use

Date of Decision : 04.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

15. Application No : 20/00186/HPA

Date Received : 31.03.20

Location : 3 Cornfields Stevenage Herts SG2 7RB

Proposal : Single storey rear extension which will extend beyond the rear 
wall of the original house by 5m, for which the maximum height 
will be 3m and the height of the eaves will be 2.8m

Date of Decision : 12.05.20

Decision : Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED

16. Application No : 20/00194/FPH

Date Received : 09.04.20

Location : 43 Gordian Way Stevenage Herts SG2 7QF

Proposal : Single storey rear extension

Date of Decision : 21.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

17. Application No : 20/00141/AD

Date Received : 06.03.20

Location : Unit 1 Chilton House Wedgwood Way Stevenage Herts

Proposal : 2no. externally illuminated fascia signs

Date of Decision : 22.05.20

Decision : Advertisement Consent is GRANTED

Page 72



DC36

18. Application No : 20/00188/FPH

Date Received : 01.04.20

Location : 131 Mildmay Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5RS

Proposal : Single storey rear extension.

Date of Decision : 29.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

19. Application No : 20/00189/FPH

Date Received : 01.04.20

Location : 3 Greydells Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3NL

Proposal : Single storey rear extension and extension and alterations to 
roof of existing side extension.

Date of Decision : 28.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

20. Application No : 20/00190/CLPD

Date Received : 02.04.20

Location : 168 Fairview Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2NE

Proposal : Certificate of Lawful Development for proposed outbuilding

Date of Decision : 19.05.20

Decision : Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED

21. Application No : 20/00197/FPH

Date Received : 10.04.20

Location : 44 Barclay Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 3NB

Proposal : Single storey rear/side extension and detached garden room

Date of Decision : 02.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 73



DC36

22. Application No : 20/00200/FPH

Date Received : 13.04.20

Location : 16 Greydells Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3NL

Proposal : Single storey front, side and rear extensions

Date of Decision : 22.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

23. Application No : 20/00204/FPH

Date Received : 16.04.20

Location : 202 Fairview Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2NA

Proposal : Proposed first floor side and rear extension

Date of Decision : 05.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

24. Application No : 20/00084/FPH

Date Received : 06.02.20

Location : 173 Lonsdale Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5DQ

Proposal : Two storey rear extension

Date of Decision : 20.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 74



DC36

25. Application No : 20/00154/FP

Date Received : 13.03.20

Location : 45 Lonsdale Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5DB

Proposal : Conversion of existing 3no. bedroom dwelling to 1no. one bed 
flat (C3) and 3 bedroom HMO (C4).

Date of Decision : 07.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is REFUSED

For the following reason(s);

The proposal would fail to provide the necessary off street 
parking facilities to serve a 1 bedroom flat and 3 bedroom HMO 
in this location. The proposal would, therefore, be likely to result 
in an increase in on-street parking that would be prejudicial to 
highway safety and the free flow of traffic. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policy IT5 of the Stevenage Borough Local 
Plan 2011-2031 adopted 2019, the Council's Parking Standards 
SPD (2012), the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
and the Planning Practice Guidance (2014).

26. Application No : 20/00161/FP

Date Received : 16.03.20

Location : Lampost One, Close To Junction With Grace Way Almonds 
Lane Stevenage Herts

Proposal : Replacement of an existing 13.0m monopole with a 20.0m high 
monopole supporting 12 no antenna apertures, together with the 
installation of ground-based equipment cabinets and ancillary 
development thereto.

Date of Decision : 02.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

27. Application No : 20/00172/FPH

Date Received : 23.03.20

Location : 99 Verity Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5PP

Proposal : Single storey rear extensions

Date of Decision : 11.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 75



DC36

28. Application No : 20/00126/FPH

Date Received : 29.02.20

Location : 127 Broad Oak Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8RB

Proposal : Erection of a rear conservatory

Date of Decision : 07.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

29. Application No : 20/00152/FP

Date Received : 13.03.20

Location : 6-8 Willows Link Stevenage Herts SG2 8AR

Proposal : Change of use from D2 (Leisure) to B1 (Light Industrial).

Date of Decision : 11.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

30. Application No : 20/00167/FP

Date Received : 19.03.20

Location : 1 Modular Business Park Norton Road Stevenage Herts

Proposal : Installation of new windows.

Date of Decision : 11.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

31. Application No : 20/00173/FPH

Date Received : 25.03.20

Location : 12 Turpins Rise Stevenage Herts SG2 8QR

Proposal : Single storey rear and front extension and single storey annexe 
to rear of property

Date of Decision : 21.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 76



DC36

32. Application No : 20/00178/FPH

Date Received : 30.03.20

Location : 10 Turpins Rise Stevenage Herts SG2 8QR

Proposal : Front porch

Date of Decision : 19.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

33. Application No : 20/00192/FPH

Date Received : 04.04.20

Location : 119 Broad Oak Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8RB

Proposal : Two storey front/side extension

Date of Decision : 01.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

34. Application No : 20/00205/FP

Date Received : 16.04.20

Location : 135 Broad Oak Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8RD

Proposal : Change of use from public amenity land to residential land

Date of Decision : 22.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

35. Application No : 20/00159/FP

Date Received : 16.03.20

Location : 10 Ashleigh Stevenage Herts SG2 9UW

Proposal : Change of use from public amenity land to residential use to 
create a parking space

Date of Decision : 03.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 77



DC36

36. Application No : 20/00176/FPH

Date Received : 26.03.20

Location : 4 Newgate Stevenage Herts SG2 9DS

Proposal : Single storey front extension

Date of Decision : 14.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

37. Application No : 20/00158/FP

Date Received : 14.03.20

Location : Dental Surgery  5 Exeter Close Stevenage Herts

Proposal : Erection of store room in garden

Date of Decision : 01.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

38. Application No : 20/00191/CLEU

Date Received : 03.04.20

Location : 164 Durham Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4HZ

Proposal : Certificate of Existing Lawful Use for the continued use of the 
premises as a HMO (use Class C4)

Date of Decision : 19.05.20

Decision : Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED

39. Application No : 20/00219/FPH

Date Received : 25.04.20

Location : 35 Beverley Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4PR

Proposal : Single storey front extension

Date of Decision : 08.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 78



DC36

40. Application No : 20/00222/FP

Date Received : 28.04.20

Location : Truro Court Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts

Proposal : New roof perimeter safety guarding

Date of Decision : 05.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

41. Application No : 20/00123/FP

Date Received : 28.02.20

Location : Longmeadow Symonds Green Lane Stevenage Herts

Proposal : Variation of conditions 1 (plans) and 5 (landscaping) attached to 
planning permission reference number 16/00645/FP

Date of Decision : 22.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

42. Application No : 20/00144/FPH

Date Received : 10.03.20

Location : 465 Scarborough Avenue Stevenage Herts SG1 2QD

Proposal : Single storey front extension

Date of Decision : 20.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

43. Application No : 20/00201/FPH

Date Received : 14.04.20

Location : 5 Jubilee Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2PG

Proposal : Front porch

Date of Decision : 08.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

Page 79



DC36

44. Application No : 20/00202/FP

Date Received : 14.04.20

Location : Unit 3 Motorway Ind Est Babbage Road Stevenage Herts

Proposal : External Alterations and Refurbishment

Date of Decision : 02.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

45. Application No : 20/00223/FP

Date Received : 28.04.20

Location : Grosvenor Court Filey Close Stevenage Herts

Proposal : New roof perimeter safety guarding

Date of Decision : 05.06.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

46. Application No : 20/00166/FP

Date Received : 18.03.20

Location : The Marquis Of Granby North Road Stevenage Herts

Proposal : Erection of an external covered seating area and garden 
landscaping.

Date of Decision : 11.05.20

Decision : Planning Permission is GRANTED

47. Application No : 20/00180/TPTPO

Date Received : 31.03.20

Location : 4 Clements Place Rectory Lane Stevenage Herts

Proposal : To pollard 1no. lime tree protected by Tree Preservation Order 
92

Date of Decision : 13.05.20

Decision : CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER

Page 80



DC36

BACKGROUND PAPERS
1. The application files, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 

number relating to these items.

2. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted May 2019.

3. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 
adopted January 2012 and the Stevenage Design Guide adopted October 2009.

4. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties.

5. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 
February 2019 and National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 (as amended).

6. Letters received containing representations.

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



PART 1
                      Release to Press

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee

Agenda Item:

Date: Thursday 18 June 2020

INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS / CALLED IN APPLICATIONS
Author – Linda Sparrow 01438 242837

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257

Contact Officer – David Rusling 01438 242270

1. APPEALS RECEIVED
1.1 None.

2. DECISIONS AWAITED

2.1 17/00730/ENF, 18b Boulton Road.  Appeal against serving of Enforcement Notice 
relating to an unauthorised gym operating from the premises.

2.1.1 This appeal for Boulton Road has been re-started as of 18 February 2020 to allow for 
the procedure to be changed from written representations to a hearing.

2.1.2 19/00620/FP, 8a and 8b Magellan Close.  Appeal against refusal of permission for the 
variation of condition 1 (approved plans) and removal of condition 11 (no new windows 
and doors) attached to planning permission 16/00791/FP.

3. DECISIONS RECEIVED

3.1 None.

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES - 26 MAY 2020
	3 19/00283/FP - BARNWELL SCHOOL
	19 00283 FP Officer report

	4 20/00135/FPM - CAR PARK BOUNDED BY LYTTON WAY, DANESGATE AND LONDON ROAD, STEVENAGE
	5 INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS
	6 INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS

